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Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

2017 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting Procedure 

 

I. Call Meeting to Order 

II. Meeting Agenda  

Time: 9:00 a.m., June 8, 2017 

Place: No. 5, Central 1st Road, K.E.P.Z. Kaohsiung, Taiwan  

(edt’s Headquarters at 1st Floor) 

Attendants: All shareholders or their proxy holders 

Chairman: Mr. Ray Tseng, Chairman of Board of Directors 

 

1. Report Items: 

(1) To report the business of 2016. 

(2) To report the distribution of 2016 employees’ compensation and remuneration for 

directors and supervisors. 

(3) Supervisors’ review report of 2016 audited financial statements. 

(4) Implementation of share buyback program. 

2. Proposed Resolutions: 

(1) To accept 2016 Business Report and Financial Statements. 

(2) To approve the proposal for distribution of 2016 profits. 

3. Discussion Items: 

Amendment to the Company’s “Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of 

Assets”. 

4. Questions and Motions 

5. Meeting Adjourned 
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Report Items: 

1. To report the business of 2016. (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Note: Please refer to Attachment 1. 

 

2. To report the distribution of 2016 employees’ compensation and remuneration for 

directors and supervisors. (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Note: 

(1) edt’s 2016 profit before tax is NT$211,607,427 (NT$230,008,073 if employees’ 

compensation and remuneration for directors excluded). In accordance with 

Article 22-1 of “Articles of Incorporation”, the Company distribute 2016 

employees’ compensation and remuneration for directors and supervisors as 

follows,  

 Employees’ compensation: 5% allocated and NT$11,500,404 in total. 

 Remuneration for directors and supervisors: 3% allocated and NT$6,900,242 

in total.  

 The above will be fully paid in cash.  

(2) Qualification requirements of employees for the compensation include 

employees of subsidiary companies who meet certain specific requirements.The 

distribution amount will depend on emloyees seniority, position, job performance, 

overall contribution or special merits and employee qualification.  

(3) There’s no difference between the above distribution amount of employees 

compensation, remuneration for directors and supervisors and our book value 

recognized.  

 

3. Supervisors’ review report of 2016 audited financial statements. (Proposed by the 

Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Note: Please refer to Attachment 2. 

 

4. Implementation of share buyback program. (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Note: Please refer to Attachment 3. 
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Proposed Resolutions: 

1. To accept 2016 Business Report and Financial Statements. (Proposed by the Board 

of Directors) 

Explanatory Note: 

(1) edt’s 2016 Parent-Company-Only Financial Statements and Consolidated 

Financial Statements were audited by independent auditors, Po Jen, Yang and 

Kuo Tsung, Chen of KPMG Taiwan. 

(2) 2016 Business Report, Independent Auditor’s report and the aforementioned 

Financial Statements are attached hereto as Attachment 1, 4 and 5.  

(3) Please accept the aforementioned Business Report and Financial Statements.  

Resolution: 

 

2. To approve the proposal for distribution of 2016 profits. (Proposed by the Board of 

Directors) 

Explanatory Note: 

(1) In Fiscal Year 2016, edt made a net profit of NT$187,772,102. By adding 

previous years’ retained earnings of NT$38,602,367, deducting changes of 

remeasurement from defined benefit plans of NT$6,053,000, setting aside 10% 

of net profit as legal reserve of NT$18,777,210, special reserve for equity 

deduction of NT$25,502,627 and special reserve for changes of market price of 

edt's shares held by subsidiaries of NT$1,758,878, total distributable earnings for 

year amounted to NT$174,282,754. 

(2) The profit to be distributed among shareholders shall be NT$70,024,642 in cash 

dividends (NT$0.4 per share). The cash dividends will be distributed according to 

the percent of shareholding on ex-dividend date and fully distributed until last 

integer and preclude fraction of dollar. The remainder of undistributed net 

earnings will be recorded as the Company’s other income. Please refer to 

Attachment 6 for profit allocation proposal. 

(3) The total amount of common shares outstanding may change and the ultimate 

cash dividend to be distributed to each share may need to be adjusted 

accordingly due to share buyback program, transfer of treasury stocks to 

employees, reduction of shares or any other reasons on the ex-dividend date. 

The Board of Directors will be authorized to settle aforementioned issue. 

(4) Following resolution in this shareholders’ meeting, the Board of Directors will be 

authorized to adopt the ex-dividend date.  

(5) Please proceed to adopt.  

Resolution: 
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Discussion Items: 

Amendment to the Company’s “Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of 

Assets” (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Explanatory Note: Please refer to Attachment 7. 

Resolution: 

 

Questions and Motions 

 

Meeting Adjourned 
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ATTACHMENT 1 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

2016 Business Report 
 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

First and foremost, I would like to thank you for taking time from your busy schedule to 

attend this shareholders’ meeting. On behalf of edt, I would like to express my upmost 

appreciation for your support and encouragement. 

 

The results of our operating performance in 2016 and outlook for the future are as 

following: 

 

2016 Business Report 

 

1. Operating Performance 

 

Though consolidated net operating revenue in 2016 totaled NT$3,178,919 thousand 

has a decrease of 8.57% under NT$3,476,757 thousand in 2015, overall gross profit 

has maintained the stable performance due to the effects of continuing proportional 

increase in product portfolio combining Capacitive Touch Panel (CTP) and Thin Film 

Transistor Liquid Crystal Display (TFT). Due to the unfavorable exchange rates, the 

consolidated net income was decreased to NT$187,846 thousand and earnings per 

share were NT$1.03. 

 

LCD panels and modules make up around 70% of total sales. Because of increased 

demand from individual clients, Capacitive Touch Panel (CTP) make up more than 

30% of sold amount and this has a positive effect on profit growth and capacity 

utilization. 

 

Looking back on the past year, although there were still many unfavorable 

macro-environmental elements and the Capacitive Touch Panel (CTP) industry has 

entered a mature low margin stage, we continued to enhance and improve the touch 

function of Capacitive Touch Panel (CTP) for diverse small niche markets to service 

the market demand of various emerging applications that accompany the growth of 

the “Internet of Things” and expect to achieve stable profit growth. 

 

The diverse development of touch function will deepen with the growth of emerging 

application markets. Encouraged by the improvement of various wireless information 

transmission technologies and medium-high end mobile computing products, simple 

and intuitive user interface design will become the mainstream for interactive 

information display control. Innovation in projected capacitive technology still awaits 

the touch panel industry to research and develop. 
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In the competitive environment of the diversified customized demand market, edt has 

always corresponded material application and software design with manufacturing 

process innovation, implemented professional and technical services, and is 

committed to the improvement of production yield rate and efficiency as well as 

effective operating cost control. Holding up to the support of our shareholders, we 

facilitate the best allocation of company resources and strive to achieve the set 

operating goals. 

 

 2. Consolidated financial results & profitability analysis 

                      Unit: NT$ thousands 

 2016 2015 

Operating profit 184,395 235,128 

Non operating income and expenses 31,589 82,016 

Profit before tax 215,984 317,144 

Net profit 187,846 266,637 

Return on assets 5.48% 7.66% 

Return on shareholders’ equity 9.04% 12.55% 

Pre-tax income to paid-in capital 11.08% 14.76% 

Profit ratio 5.91% 7.67% 

Earnings per share (NT$) 1.03 1.25 
 

 

 

 

3. Research and development Status 

 

(1) From the establishment of edt, the research and development of new technology 

has been highly valued. We spare no effort in improving product quality and 

developing new varieties. Research and development results of 2016 are as 

following: 

Item R&D Results Description of Benefits 

1 TOL 2D CTP Development 

(SITO) 

Develop the SITO structure with high intensity by 

importing new spray equipument and new 

production process. 

2 TOL-G1F CTP Development 

For Automobile Application  

Develop CTP structure for automobile 

application by combining COC film with high 

reliability and TOL technology. 

3 Large Size GFF CTP 

Development (21.5”~27”) 

Develop larger size of GFF structure by dry 

etching and silver paste printing technology.  

4 2D Touch With 3D Gesture 

Glass Sensor Development 

Develop the technology of 2D touch With 3D 

gesture glass sensor with IC vendor. 

5 3D Holographic Projection 

System With Air Gesture 

Apply 3D gesture function to 3D holographic 

projection system. 

6 Patent Application Number of patent proposals totaled 18. Number 

of patent grants totaled 13 (proposals 

accumulated in the previous years). 
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(2) Research and Development Focus for 2017 

 

In response to the vast market of flat panel display, we plan on investing 

NT$95,370 thousand into research and development. In addition to sparing no 

effort in the research and development of existing areas, we are also quite 

prepared for other flat panel display related markets, such as touch panel. 

Research and development plans for 2017 are as follows: 

 

 Large Size GGG CTP Development by FMM Technology (21.5”~27”) 

 DITO Structure Touch Panel Development by FMM Technology 

 Narrow Border/Bezel-Less CTP Development 

 ECD(Electro Chromic Device) Development 

 Embedded System Firmware 

 Embedded System Software 

 ECG+EMG 3D Gesture Development 

 

Summary of Business Plan for 2017 

 

1. Business objectives 

 

(1) Develop new technologies and products to expand market. 

(2) Develop effective business model for CTP+TFT module. 

(3) Utilize knowledge management and construct intelligent factory. 

(4) Enhance efficacy of research and development. 

 

2. Expected sales numbers and its basis 

 

(1) Expected sales numbers for 2017: 

With the rise of global economy, the sales numbers for 2017 is expected to be: 

STN module                 4,000 thousand units 

TFT module               1,800 thousand units 

Capacitive Touch Panel      1,000 thousand units 

(2) Basis for expected sales numbers of 2017: 

With the emerging trend of smart phones, applications for internet of things, 

and wearable devices, the future market demand and application of touch 

panels will continue to grow.  

The considerable growth potential for small and medium size TFT panels in 

consumer and pan-industrial electronic products can drive up the sale of TFT 

modules. 

Integrated touch display design is still in trend with various application market 

and the customization requirements are relatively high. We believe that there 

will be a yearly double-digit growth for solutions of touch function combined 

with display panel.  
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3. Key sales strategies 

 

(1) Continuous technological development of the CTP manufacturing process and 

its material, as well as lamination technology of related touch sensors and 

display panels.  

(2) Actively develop new high added value products and markets, such as large size 

products. 

(3) Research and develop curved surface touch technology for bonding curved 

glass and film, full lamination technology of display LCD and touch panel 

modules, and improvement of production yield rate. 

 

Future Development Strategies 

 

1. Focus on the innovative technology development of Capacitive Touch Panel (CTP) 

and continuous proportional increase of Capacitive Touch Panel products. 

2. Enhance TFT LCD design ability, actively seek out sales orders for TFT, and satisfy 

the different needs of clients. 

3. Continuously enhance design development of pan-industrial control application 

products to maintain future growth and profitability. Develop embedded system 

solution, assist the customer in integrated software, firmware and hardware design, 

and further differentiate and provide high value-added. 

4. Actively build IP strategies and invest in research and development to extend into 

futuristic product technology and seize prior opportunity into high margin markets. 

5. Improve the service quality for major clients via the technical service function of 

overseas channels. 

 

The Impact of the External Competitive Environment, Regulatory Environment 

and Macroeconomic Conditions 

 

1. In response to EU RoHS and REACH regulations as well as consideration of 

environmental climate change caused by the greenhouse effect, we will actively 

work with supplies and venders in corresponding managerial activities that save 

energy and reduce carbon emission to comply with environmental trends and 

enhance product competitiveness. 

2. Due to industry characteristics and the overall environment, the average selling 

price is declining gradually and is bound to affect the increase of gross margin. We 

will seek continuous growth in revenue and profit through product re-organization, 

manufacturing process improvement and more efficient supply chain management. 

3. Over 90% of total operating revenue of edt is export in 2016. Since exchange rate 

fluctuations have a significant impact on us, efficient and stable financial operations 

will be used for risk aversion.  

 

With dedication to becoming the leading brand with the most complete small and 

medium size product line, edt stride to hold up to shareholders' expectations and 

achieve the basis for sustainability and stable development. 
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ATTACHMENT 2 
 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Supervisors’ Review Report 
 

The Board of Directors report the business report, consolidated financial statements, 

parent-company-only financial statements and profit allocation proposal of 2016. Of 

the said documents, the financial statements have been duly audited by Certified 

Public Accountants Po Jen, Yang and Kuo Tsung, Chen of KPMG Taiwan.  

 

The above business report, consolidated financial statements, 

parent-company-only financial statements and profit allocation proposal have been 

audited by us as Supervisors of the Company. We deem no inappropriateness on 

these documents. Pursuant to Article 219 of the Company Act, we hereby present 

the audited report. Please review.  

 

Submitted to: 

 

2017 Shareholders’ Meeting of the Company 

 

     

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

 

Supervisor: Lin, Yu-Fen  

Supervisor: Tseng, Shu-Ling  

Supervisor: Chu, Min  

 

 

March 15, 2017 



 

- 10 - 

ATTACHMENT 3 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Implementation of Share Buyback Program 
 

Buyback 

period 
1

st
 time of 2016 2

nd
 time of 2016 3

rd
 time of 2016 1

st
 time of 2017 2

nd
 time of 2017 

Purpose of 

the buyback 

Transfer to 

employees 

Maintain edt’s credit 

and stockholders’ 

equity 

Maintain edt’s credit 

and stockholders’ 

equity 

Maintain edt’s credit 

and stockholders’ 

equity 

Maintain edt’s credit 

and stockholders’ 

equity 

Buyback 

period 

Feb. 16, 2016~ 

Apr. 12, 2016 

Oct. 19, 2016~ 

Oct. 28, 2016 

Nov. 10 , 2016~ 

Nov. 21, 2016 

Jan. 6 , 2017~ 

Jan. 17, 2017 

Feb. 21, 2017~ 

Mar. 21, 2017 

Buyback price 

range 
NT$7~13.5 NT$7~13 NT$7~13 NT$7~13 NT$8.5~12 

The average 

buyback price 

per share 

NT$12.58 

per share 

NT$10.12 

per share 

NT$9.99 

per share 

NT$10.86 

per share 

NT$11.44 

per share 

Types of 

shares bought 

back and 

quantities 

Common stock 

12,000,000 shares 

Common stock 

2,500,000 shares 

Common stock 

3,500,000 shares 

Common stock 

5,500,000 shares 

Common stock 

6,000,000 shares 

Total value of 

shares bought 

back 

NT$150,926,193 NT$25,293,018 NT$34,947,677 NT$59,742,546 NT$68,639,479 

Cancelled or 

transferred 

share 

quantities 

Not transferred  2,500,000 shares  3,500,000 shares 5,500,000 shares Not cancelled  

Accumulated 

bought back 

shares 

12,000,000 shares - - - 18,000,000 shares 

Number of 

shares bought 

back as a 

percentage of 

total 

outstanding 

shares (%) 

6.34% - - - 9.50% 
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ATTACHMENT 4 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 

To the Board of Directors of Emerging Display Technologies Corp.: 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Emerging Display Technologies Corp. (“the 

Company”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 
statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations 
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and 
Certification of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and the auditing 
standards generally accepted in the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the Certified Public Accountants Code of Professional Ethics in Republic of China (“the 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis of our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
The key audit matters we judged shall be presented in the financial report as follows: 

1. Valuation of inventory 

Please refer to Note 4(g) Inventories and Note 5(b) of the financial statements for 
inventories and accounting estimate of inventory valuation, respectively. Information 
regarding the inventory is shown in Note 6(g) of the financial statements. 

Description of key audit matters: 

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses. The Company is engaged in the manufacture and sale 
of liquid crystal displays and capacity touch panels. The Company focuses on the small 
and medium sized niche markets of nonconsumable area. The products are used in 
industrial equipment, smart home devices, handheld devices, and information appliance 
products. The development strategy of the Company is focused on diversified and 
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customized product. The impact to assess provision includes the purchasing and 
write-down of the components which are used in diversifie and customized products, the 
management of safety stocks levels, and production planning which effects the inventory 
cost. As a result there is a risk that the net realizable value of inventory falls below its 
carrying value. Therefore this is one of the key areas our audit focused on.  

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included selecting 
samples to test the accuracy of inventory aging report; analyzing the changes of 
inventory aging; assessing the reasonableness of the accounting policy, such as the 
provision of inventory valuation and obsolescence, and understanding the basis of selling 

price used by the management for evaluating the reasonableness of the net realizable 
value. Moreover, assessing the changes of obsolescence inventory in the subsequent 
events, and the basis of net realizable value to evaluate the accuracy of the Company’s 
provisions. In addition, assessing the appropriateness of the provisions and disclosures 
made by the management. 

2. Valuation of receivable  

Please refer to Note 4(f) and Note 5(a) of the financial statement for receivable and 
accounting estimate of receivable valuation, respectively. Information regarding the 
inventory are shown in Note 6 (f) of the financial statement. 

Description of key audit matters: 

The Company’s customers are the manufacturer industries of industrial equipment, smart 
home devices, handheld devices, and information appliance product. The cause of some 
customers delayed payment was there is a need to clarify the responsibility of 
problematic products that resulted from the failure of process and usage of end product. 
The management has subjective and significant judgments with the balance of allowance 
for bad debts from receivables. Therefore this is one of the key areas our audit focused 
on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included 
understanding the processes of checking account with customers and collecting; 
analyzing receivable aging report; assessing the reasonableness of the provision of 
receivable by reviewing the historical accuracy on provision, historical receipt records, 
industrial economy, and concentration of credit risk of its customers; and considering the 
adequacy of the Company’s disclosures in the accounts. 

3. Recoverability of deferred tax assets 

Please refer to Note 4(s) “Income taxes”, Note 5(c) “Significant accounting assumptions 
and judgments, and major sources of estimation uncertainty”, and Note 6(r) “Income 
taxes “of the financial statements.  

Description of key audit matters: 

The recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the management’s judgment in 
respect of the timing and quantum of expected future profits and the probability that the 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized is one of the key areas our audit focused on. 
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How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included 
assessing the management estimates for assumptions used in respect of the future 
taxable profit forecasts based on the relevant components to the Company’s forecasts; 
retrospectively reviewing the accuracy of taxable profit and assumptions used estimates; 
assessing the appropriateness of management assumptions used in growth forecasts by 
using the knowledge of the Company and the information of industry in which it operates. 

Also, we evaluated the appropriateness of the disclosures and estimates of deferred tax 
assets of the Company. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports 
by Securities Issuers and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. Unless the management 
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease its operations, there is no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance (inclusive of supervisors) are responsible for overseeing 
the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the auditing 
standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 
Republic of China, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  
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3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
investment in other entities accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion 
on this financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Po 
Jen, Yang and Kuo Tsung, Chen. 

 

KPMG 

Taiwan (Republic of China) 

March 8, 2017 
 

Notes to Readers 

The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the statement of financial position, financial performance and its cash 
flows in accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other 
jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such financial statements are those generally accepted and applied in the 
Republic of China. 
 
The auditors’ report and the accompanying financial statements are the English translation of the Chinese version prepared and used in 
the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of the English and Chinese language auditors’ 
report and financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail.



 

(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. 

Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

Assets Amount % Amount % 

Current assets:     

 Cash and cash equivalents (note 6(a)) $ 675,142   20   904,007   25  

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, current (note 6(b))  4,655   -   50,130   1  

 Current available-for-sale financial assets (note 6(c))  387,997   11   598,050   16  

 Current investments in debt instrument without active market (notes 

6(d) and 8) 

 

 420,428  

 

 12  

 

 1,014  

 

 -  

 Accounts receivable, net (note 6(f))  168,483   5   193,769   5  

 Accounts receivable ─ related parties, net (notes 6(f) and 7)  304,585   9   395,302   11  

 Other receivables (note 6(f))  19,550   1   17,772   1  

 Current tax assets   680   -   1,030   -  

 Inventories (note 6(g))  639,984   19   664,660   18  

 Other current assets (note 6(h))  12,440   -   13,503   -   

    2,633,944   77   2,839,237   77  

Non-current assets:             

 Financial assets carried at cost, non-current (note 6(e))  35,000   1   35,000   1  

 Investments accounted for using equity method (note 6(i))  295,829   9   295,685   8  

 Property, plant and equipment (notes 6(k) and 8)  383,070   11   453,128   12  

 Investment property, net (note 6(l))  17,047   1   17,407   1  

 Intangible assets (note 6(m))  3,868   -   3,521   -  

 Deferred tax assets (note 6(r))  25,683   1   38,588   1  

 Prepayments for business facilities  377   -   -   -  

 Other non-current financial assets (note 6(f))  4,040   -   3,996   -   

    764,914   23   847,325   23  

     

             

Total assets $ 3,398,858   100   3,686,562   100  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

Liabilities and Equity Amount % Amount % 

Current liabilities:     

 Short-term borrowings (notes 6(h) and 8) $ 712,000   21   599,286   16  

 Notes payable   2,203   -   3,192   -  

 Accounts payable   293,301   9   302,219   8  

 Accounts payable ─ related parties (note 7)  106,250   3   96,904   3  

 Other payables   197,243   6   239,581   7  

 Other payables ─ related parties (note 7)  4,787   -   6,321   -  

 Current tax liabilities   11,024   -   -   -  

 Long-term borrowings, current portion (notes 6(o) and 8)  -   -   72,800   2  

 Other current liabilities   20,271   1   24,562   1  

    1,347,079   40   1,344,865   37  

Non-Current liabilities:              

 Long-term borrowings (notes 6(o) and 8)  -   -   218,400   6   

 Deferred tax liabilities (note 6(r))  2,812   -   2,539   -   

 Net defined benefit liability, non-current (note 6(g)  88,505   2   84,771   2   

 Guarantee deposits received  160   -   160   -   

    91,477   2   305,870   8   

  Total liabilities  1,438,556   42   1,650,735   45   

Equity attributable to owners of parent (note 6(s)):      

 Capital stock  1,949,076   57   2,149,076   58   

 Capital surplus  33,663   1   27,955   1   

 Retained earnings  338,384   10   216,937   6   

 Other equity interest  (87,612)   (2)   (99,001)   (3)   

 Treasury shares  (273,209)   (8)   (259,140)   (7)   

  Total equity  1,960,302   58   2,035,827   55  

Total liabilities and equity $ 3,398,858   100   3,686,562   100  



 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. 

Statements of Comprehensive Income 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars , Except for Earnings Per Common Share) 

 

 

 2016 2015 

 Amount % Amount % 

Operating revenue (notes 6(u) and 7) $ 3,045,089   100   3,377,472    100  

Operating costs (notes 6(g), (m), (q) and (u), 7 and 12 )  2,548,633   84   2,819,817     83  

Gross profit  496,456    16   557,655     17  

Less: Unrealized profit (loss) from sales  20,186   1   24,531      1  

Add: Realized profit (loss) on from sales  24,531      1   15,727   -  

Gross profit   500,801     16   548,851     16  

Operating expenses (notes 6(m),(g) and (u), 7 and 12):     

Selling expenses  119,965      4   135,255      4  

Administrative expenses  92,204      3   97,012      3  

Research and development expenses  102,547      3   100,149      3  

  314,716     10  332,416     10  

Net other income (expenses) (note 6(w))  1,094     -    1,094   -  

Net operating income   187,179      6   217,529      6  

Non-operating income and expenses (note 6(x)):     

Other income  15,683   -   16,862   -  

Other gains and losses  20,163      1  78,423      2  

Finance costs  (11,758)   -   (16,125)   -  

Share of profit (loss) of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method  340   -   17,579      1  

  24,428      1   96,739      3  

Profit before tax  211,607      7   314,268      9  

Income tax expense (note 6(r))  23,835      1  48,291      1  

Profit   187,772      6   265,977      8  

Other comprehensive income:      

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     

 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 6(q))  (6,053)   -   794   -  

Less: income tax related to components of other comprehensive income that may not be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss 

 

      -         

 

   -    

 

      -      

 

   -    

  (6,053)     -   794   -  

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

 Exchange differences on translation  (8,311)   -   1,737   -  

  Unrealized gains (losses) on valuation of available-for-sale financial assets (note 6(y))  18,495   -   (58,052)     (2)  

 Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures accounted for 

using equity method that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (note 6(s)) 

         

2,291 

 

   -    

 

   (8,364)    

 

   -    

 Less: income tax related to components of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss (note 6(r)) 

 

        1,086    

 

   -     

 

       2,570    

 

   -    

  11,389     -   (62,109)     (2)  

Other comprehensive income, net  5,336     -   (61,315)     (2)  

Total comprehensive income $ 193,108      6   204,662      6  

Earnings per share (New Taiwan Dollars) (note 6(t)):    

Basic net income per share (New Taiwan Dollars) $ 1.03   1.25  

Diluted net income per share (New Taiwan Dollars) $ 1.03   1.24  



 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. 

Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

     Retained earnings Other components of equity   

  

 

 

 

Ordinary 

shares 

 

 

 

 

Capital 

surplus 

 

 

 

 

 

Legal reserve 

 

 

 

 

 

Special reserve 

 

 

 

Unappropriated 

 retained 

earnings 

 Exchange 

differences 

on translation 

of foreign 

financial 

statements 

Unrealized 

gains  

(losses) on 

available-for-

sale financial  

assets 

 

 

 

 

Treasury 

shares 

 

 

 

 

 

Total equity 

Balance on January 1, 2015  $ 2,261,076   6,294   -   -   (56,128)   8,133   (45,025)   (122,282)   2,052,068  

Profit for the year ended December 31, 2015  -   -   -   -   265,977   -   -   -   265,977  

Other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2015  -   -   -   -   794   1,399   (63,508)   -   (61,315)  

Comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2015  -   -   -   -   266,771   1,399   (63,508)   -   204,662  

Capital surplus used to offset accumulated deficits  -   (6,294)   -   -   6,294   -   -   -   -  

Purchase of treasury share  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (220,903)   (220,903)  

Retirement of treasury share  (112,000)   27,955   -   -   -   -   -   84,045   -  

Balance on December 31, 2015  2,149,076   27,955   -   -   216,937   9,532   (108,533)   (259,140)   2,035,827  

Profit for the year ended December 31, 2016  -   -   -   -   187,772   -   -   -   187,772  

Other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2016  -   -   -   -   (6,053)   (9,825)   21,214   -   5,336  

Comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2016  -   -   -   -   181,719   (9,825)   21,214   -   193,108  

Appropriation and distribution of retained earnings:           

Legal reserve appropriated  -   -   21,614   -   (21,614)   -   -   -   -  

Special reserve appropriated  -   -   -   96,448   (96,448)   -   -   -   -  

Cash dividends  -   -   -   -   (60,272)   -   -   -   (60,272)  

Purchase of treasury share  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (211,167)   (211,167)  

Retirement of treasury share  (200,000)   2,902   -   -   -   -   -   197,098   -  

Cash dividends to subsidiaries  -   2,806   -   -   -   -   -   -   2,806  

Balance on December 31, 2016 $ 1,949,076   33,663   21,614   96,448   220,322   (293)   (87,319)   (273,209)   1,960,302  

Note: For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the directors' and supervisors' remuneration amounted to $6,900 and $8,623, and the employees' remuneration amounted to $11,500 and $14,371, 

respectively, has been charged against statement of comprehensive income. 



 

 - 18 - 

(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. 

Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

 2016 2015 

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities:       
Profit before tax $ 211,607   314,268  
Adjustments for:       

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss):       
Depreciation expense  101,009   115,056  
Amortization expense  1,061   919  
Bad debt expenses   -   1,070  
Net gain on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,021)   (9,430)  
Interest expense  11,758   16,125  
Interest income  (3,525)   (4,643)  
Dividend income  (8,356)   (12,009)  
Share of profit of subsidiaries,associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method  (340)   (17,579)  
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (175)   (834)  
Gain on disposal of investments  (11,632)   (20,362)  
Unrealized profit from sales  20,186   24,531  
Realized profit on from sales  (24,531)   (15,727)  
Unrealized foreign exchange gain  (10,285)   (13,321)  

Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)  73,149   63,796  
         Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

         Changes in operating assets:       
Decrease in accounts receivable  29,004   13,112  
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable ─related parties  95,855   (39,178)  
Increase in other receivable  (1,390)   (2,661)  
Decrease in inventories  24,676   11,480  
Decrease (increase) in prepayment and other current assets  (471)   1,187  

Total changes in operating assets  147,674   (16,060)  
Changes in operating liabilities:       

Decrease in notes payable  (989)   (631)  
Decrease in accounts payable  (12,078)   (20,572)  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable - related parties  8,780   (16,208)  
Increase (decrease) in other payable  (33,467)   35,121  
Increase (decrease) in other payable ─ related parties  (1,543)   656  
Increase (decrease) in accrued expense and other current liabilities  (4,291)   4,168  
Decrease in net defined benefit liability, non-current  (2,319)   (1,597)  
Decrease in other operating liabilities  -   (11)  
Total changes in operating liabilities  (45,907)   926  

Total changes in operating assets and liabilities  101,767   (15,134)  
Total adjustments  174,916   48,662  

Cash flows from operations  386,523   362,930  
Interest received  3,137   5,048  
Dividends received  8,356   12,009  
Interest paid  (10,341)   (14,822)  
Income taxes paid  (369)   (4,488)  

Net cash flows from operating activities  387,306   360,677  
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:       

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, designated as upon initial recognition  (16,187)   (105,639)  
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, designated as upon initial recognition  63,683   126,581  
Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets  (32,464)   (528,132)  
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets  272,644   357,426  
Increase in investments in debt instrument without active market  (417,223)   (9)  
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (28,412)   (39,242)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  175   1,095  
Acquisition of intangible assets  (1,408)   (1,538)  
Increase in other financial assets  (44)   -  
Increase in prepayments for business facilities  (377)   (7,319)  
Dividends received  1,327   1,070  

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (158,286)   (195,707)  
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:       

Increase in short-term borrowings  112,714   568,655  
Repayments of long-term debt  (291,200)   (345,800)  
Cash dividends paid  (60,263)   -  
Payments to acquire treasury shares  (222,266)   (209,804)  

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities  (461,015)   13,051  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  3,130   9,528  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (228,865)   187,549  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  904,007   716,458  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 675,142   904,007  

 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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ATTACHMENT 5 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 

To the Board of Directors of Emerging Display Technologies Corp.: 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Emerging Display 
Technologies Corp. (the Company) and subsidiaries, which comprise the balance sheets as 
of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the statement of consolidated comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the Group's consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and 
2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by 
Securities Issuers and the International Financial Reporting Standards(IFRS), International 
Accounting Standards(IAS), IFRIC Interpretations(IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations(SIC) 
endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of 
China. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and 
Certification of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants, and the auditing 
standards generally accepted in the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the Certified Public Accountants Code of Professional Ethics in Republic 
of China (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we judged shall be presented in 
the consolidated financial report as follows:  

1. Valuation of inventory 

Please refer to Note 4(g) Inventories and Note 5(b) of the consolidated financial 
statements for inventories and accounting estimate of inventory valuation, respectively. 
Information regarding the inventory is shown in Note 6(g) of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses. The Group is engaged in the manufacture and sale of 
liquid crystal displays and capacity touch panels. The Group focuses on the small and 
medium sized niche markets of non-consumable area. The products are used in 
industrial equipment, smart home devices, handheld devices, and information appliance 
products. The development strategy of the Group is focused on diversified and 
customized product. The impact to assess provision includes the purchasing and 
write-down of the components which are used in diversified and customized products, the 
management of safety stocks levels, and production planning which effects the inventory 
cost. As a result there is a risk that the net realizable value of inventory falls below its 

carrying value. Therefore this is one of the key areas our audit focused on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included selecting 
samples to test the accuracy of inventory aging report; analyzing the changes of 
inventory aging; assessing the reasonableness of the accounting policy, such as 
provision of inventory valuation and obsolescence, reviewing the accuracy of prior year’s 
inventory allowance and understanding the basis of selling price used by the 
management for evaluating the reasonableness of the net realizable value. Moreover, 
assessing the changes of obsolescence inventory in the subsequent events, and the 
basis of net realizable value to evaluate the accuracy of the Group’s provisions. In 
addition, assessing the appropriateness of the provisions and disclosures made by the 
management. 

2. Valuation of receivable  

Please refer to Note 4(f) and Note 5(a) of the consolidated financial statement for 
receivable and accounting estimate of receivable valuation, respectively. Information 
regarding the inventory is shown in Note 6 (f) of the consolidated financial statement. 

The Group’s customers are the manufacturers of industrial equipment, smart home 
devices, handheld devices, and information appliance product. The cause of some 
customers delayed payment was there is a need to clarify the responsibility of 
problematic products that resulted from the failure of process or the usage of end product. 
The management has subjective and significant judgments with the balance of allowance 
for bad debts from receivables. Therefore this is one of the key areas our audit focused 
on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included 
understanding the processes of account checking with customers and collecting; 
analyzing receivable aging report; assessing the reasonableness of the provision of 
receivable by reviewing the historical accuracy on provision, historical receipt records, 
industrial economy, and concentration of credit risk; and considering the adequacy of the 
Group’s disclosures in the accounts. 
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3. Recoverability of deferred tax assets 

Please refer to Note 4(s) “Income taxes”, Note 5(c) “Significant accounting assumptions 
and judgments, and major sources of estimation uncertainty”, and Note 6(r) “Income 
taxes “of the consolidated financial statements.  

The recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the management’s judgment in 
respect of the timing and quantum of expected future profits, and the probability that the 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized is one of the key areas our audit focused on. 

How the matter was addressed in our audit: 

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included 
assessing the management estimates for assumptions used in respect of the future 
taxable profit forecasts based on the relevant components to the Group’s forecasts; 
retrospectively reviewing the accuracy of taxable profit and assumptions used estimates; 
assessing the appropriateness of management assumptions used in growth forecasts by 
using the knowledge of the Group and the information of industry in which it operates. 

Other Matters 

We have also audited the parent company only financial statement of Emerging Display 
Technologies Corp. as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 on which 
we have issued an unmodified opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 
Reports by Securities Issuers and the IFRS, IAS, IFRIC, and SIC endorsed and issued into 
effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. Unless 
the management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease its operations, there is no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always detect a material 
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misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 
Republic of China, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
investment in other entities accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion 
on this consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Po 
Jen, Yang and Kuo Tsung, Chen. 

 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan (Republic of China) 

March 8, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes to Readers 
The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the statement of financial position, financial performance and its cash 
flows in accordance with the accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other 
jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such financial statements are those generally accepted and applied in the 
Republic of China. 
 
The auditors’ report and the accompanying financial statements are the English translation of the Chinese version prepared and used in 
the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of the English and Chinese language auditors’ 
report and financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail.



(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 

 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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 2016.12.31 2015.12.31 

Assets Amount % Amount % 

Current assets:     

 Cash and cash equivalent (Note 6(a)) $ 744,653   22   963,257   26  

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 6(b))  4,655   -   50,130   1  

 Available-for-sale financial assets current (Note 6(c))  408,905   12   614,734   16  

 Bond investments without active market-current (Notes 6(d) and 8)  420,428   12   1,014   -  

 Accounts receivable, net (Note 6(f))  376,421   11   454,735   12  

 Other receivables (Note 6(f))  19,602   -   18,082   1  

 Current tax assets  2,782   -   2,601   -  

 Inventories (Note 6(g))  754,529   22   830,814   22  

 Other current assets (Note 6(h))  20,814   1   33,410   1  

    2,752,789   80   2,968,777   79  

Non-current assets:             

 Financial assets carried at cost-noncurrent (Note 6(e))  185,000   6   185,000   5  

 Property, plant and equipment (Notes 6(j) and 8)  459,027   13   537,810   14  

 Investment Property (Notes 6(k) and 8)  17,047   -   17,407   1  

 Intangible assets (Note 6(l))  3,868   -   3,525   -  

 Deferred tax assets (Note 6(q))  25,898   1   38,751   1  

 Prepayments on purchase of equipment  377   -   -   -  

 Other non-current financial assets (Notes 6(d) and 6(f))  9,842   -   9,663   - 

  701,059   20   792,156   21  

  

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

   

Total assets $ 3,453,848   100   3,760,933   100  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2016.12.31 2015.12.31 

Liabilities and Equity Amount % Amount % 

Current liabilities:     

 Short-term loans (Notes 6(m) and 8) $ 712,000   21   599,286   16  

 Notes payable  2,203   -   3,193   -  

 Accounts payable  344,224   10   365,174   10  

 Other payables  228,455   6   271,943   7  

 Current tax liabilities  13,485   -   1,463   -  

 Long-term loans, current portion (Note 6(n) and 8)  -   -   72,800   2  

 Other current liabilities  21,335   1   25,135   1  

     1,321,702   38   1,338,994   36  

Non Current liabilities:             

 Long-term loans (Notes 6(n) and 8)  -   -   218,400   6  

 Deferred tax liabilities (Note 6(q))  2,812   -   2,539   -  

 Net Defined Benefit liabilities-noncurrent  88,505   3   84,771   2  

 Guarantee Deposits Received  160   -   160   -  

    91,477   3   305,870   8  

  Total liabilities  1,413,179   41   1,644,864   44  

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent (Note (r))      

 Capital stock  1,949,076   56   2,149,076   57  

 Capital surplus  33,663   1   27,955   1  

 Accumulated deficit  338,384   10   216,937   6  

 Other equity interest  (87,612)   (3)   (99,001)   (3)  

 Treasury shares  (273,209)   (7)   (259,140)   (7)  

  Total equity attributable to shareholders of parent  1,960,302   57   2,035,827   54  

 Non-controlling interests  80,367   2   80,242   2  

  Total equity  2,040,669   59   2,116,069   56  

Total liabilities and equity $ 3,453,848   100   3,760,933   100  



 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

 (Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars, Except Earning Per Share) 

 

 2016 2015 

 Amount  Amount  

Operating revenue (Note 6(t)) $ 3,178,919   100   3,476,757   100  

Operating cost (Note 6(g), (l), (p) and (u) and 12 )  2,551,193   80   2,782,848   80  

Gross profit  627,726   20   693,909   20  

Operating expenses (Note 6(l) ,(p) and (u) and 12):     

 Selling expenses  200,572   6   213,551   6  

 General and administrative expenses  141,306   5   146,175   4  

 Research and development expenses  102,547   3   100,149   3  

  444,425   14   459,875   13  

Net other income (Note 6(v))  1,094   -   1,094   -  

Operating profit  184,395   6   235,128   7  

Non operating income and expenses(Note 6(w)):     

 Other income  21,349   -   19,137   -  

 Other gains and losses, net  22,002   1   79,015   2  

 Finance costs, net  (11,762)   -   (16,136)   -  

  31,589   1   82,016   2  

Profit before tax  215,984   7   317,144   9  

Total tax expense (Note 6(q))  28,138   1   50,507   1  

Net profit  187,846   6   266,637   8  

Other comprehensive income     

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:     

Remeasurements from defined benefit plans (Note 6(p))  (6,053)   -   794   -  

Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified subsequently  -   -   -   -  

  (6,053)   -   794   -  

Items that will be reclassified into profit or loss:     

Foreign currency translation difference (Note 6(r))  (10,193)   (1)   1,316   -  

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets (Note 6(x))  22,719   1   (66,938)   (2)  

Less: Income tax related to items that will be reclassified subsequently 

 (Note 6(q)) 

 

 1,086  

 

 -  

 

 (2,570)  

 

 -  

  11,440   -   (63,052)   (2)  

Other comprehensive income, net  5,387   -   (62,258)   (2)  

Comprehensive income $ 193,233   6   204,379   6  

Profit (loss) attributable to:     

Shareholders of parent $ 187,772   6   265,977   8  

Non-controlling interests  74   -   660   -  

 $ 187,846   6   266,637   8  

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:     

 Shareholders of parent $ 193,108   6   204,662   6  

 Non-controlling interests  125   -   (283)   -  

 $ 193,233   6   204,379   6  

Earnings per share (Note 6(s))(expressed in New Taiwan dollars)   

Basic earnings per share $ 1.03   1.25  

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.03   1.24  



 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

  (Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 

 
 Equity attributable to shareholders of parent   

      Other equity interest     

    Foreign  Unrealized gain     

   Retained earnings currency (loss) on   Total equity   

 Common 

stock 

Capital 

surplus 

Legal 

reserve 

Special 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings 

translation 

differences 

Available for sale 

financial asset 

Treasury 

stock 

attributable 

of parent 

Non-controlling 

Interests 

Total 

Equity 

Balance as of January 1, 2015 $ 2,261,076   6,294   -   -   (56,128)   8,133   (45,025)   (122,282)   2,052,068   80,525   2,132,593  

Net profit in 2015  -   -   -   -   265,977   -   -   -   265,977   660   266,637  

Other comprehensive income in 2015  -   -   -   -   794   1,399   (63,508)   -   (61,315)   (943)   (62,258)  

Total comprehensive income in 2015  -   -   -   -   266,771   1,399   (63,508)   -   204,662   (283)   204,379  

Capital surplus used to offset deficit  -   (6,294)   -   -   6,294   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Repurchase of treasury stock  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (220,903)   (220,903)   -   (220,903)  

Cancellation of treasury stock  (112,000)   27,955   -   -   -   -   -   84,045   -   -   -  

Balance as of December 31, 2015  2,149,076   27,955   -   -   216,937   9,532   (108,533)   (259,140)   2,035,827   80,242   2,116,069  

Net profit in 2016  -   -   -   -   187,772   -   -   -   187,772   74   187,846  

Other comprehensive income in 2016  -   -   -   -   (6,053)   (9,825)   21,214   -   5,336   51   5,387  

Total comprehensive income in 2016  -   -   -   -   181,719   (9,825)   21,214   -   193,108   125   193,233  

Appropriation and distribution of 

retained earnings: 

           

 Legal reserve appropriated  -   -   21,614   -   (21,614)   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Special reserve appropriated  -   -   -   96,448   (96,448)   -   -   -   -   -   -  

 Cash dividends of common stock  -   -   -   -   (60,272)   -   -   -   (60,272)   -   (60,272)  

Repurchase of treasury stock  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (211,167)   (211,167)   -   (211,167)  

Cancellation of treasury stock  (200,000)   2,902   -   -   -   -   -   197,098   -   -   -  

Cash dividends to subsidiaries  -   2,806   -   -   -   -   -   -   2,806   -   2,806  

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 1,949,076   33,663   21,614   96,448   220,322   (293)   (87,319)   (273,209)   1,960,302   80,367   2,040,669  



 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

EMERGING DISPLAY TECHNOLOGIES CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

(expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 

 
 2016 2015 

Cash flows from operating activities       
 Profit before tax $ 215,984   317,144  
 Adjustments :       
    Income and expenses having no effect on cash flows:       
   Depreciation expense  110,619   128,508  
   Amortization expense  1,065   970  
   Provision for bad debt expense  (144)   (1,147)  
   Net gain on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (2,021)   (9,430)  
   Interest expense  11,762   16,136  
   Interest income  (3,856)   (4,991)  
   Dividend income  (8,647)   (13,756)  
   Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (365)   (844)  
   Gain on disposal of investments  (11,632)   (20,362)  
   Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)  (5,403)   (23,857)  
    Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)  91,378   71,227  
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities       
   Net changes in operating assets:       
    Accounts receivable  77,615   (9,045)  
    Other receivable  (1,136)   (2,340)  
    Inventories  71,224   15,618  
    Other current assets  10,182   (8,906)  
     Total net changes in operating assets  157,885   (4,673)  
   Net changes in operating liabilities:       
    Notes payable  (990)   (631)  
    Accounts payable  (22,138)   (38,292)  
    Other payables  (32,574)   31,466  
    Other current liabilities  (3,655)   3,138  
    Net defined benefit liability  (2,319)   (1,597)  
    Other operating liabilities  -   (11)  
   Total net changes in operating liabilities  (61,676)   (5,927)  
     Total net changes in operating asset and liabilities  96,209   (10,600)  
   Total adjustments  187,587   60,627  
  Cash generated from operating activities  403,571   377,771  
  Interest received  3,468   5,395  
  Dividends received  8,647   13,756  
  Interest paid  (10,345)   (14,830)  
  Income taxes paid  (4,170)   (7,387)  
   Net cash flows from operating activities  401,171   374,705  
Cash flows from investing activities:       
 Acquisition of financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss 
 (16,187)   (105,639)  

 Proceed from disposal of financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 63,683   126,581  

 Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets  (32,464)   (528,132)  
 Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets  272,644   357,426  
 Acquisition of debt investments without active market  (417,223)   (9)  

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (31,959)   (44,211)  
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  365   1,152  
 Acquisition of intangible assets  (1,408)   (1,538)  

Increase in other financial assets  (492)   -  
Decrease in other financial assets  -   281  

 Increase in prepayments on purchase of equipment  (377)   (7,319)  
  Net cash used in investing activities  (163,418)   (201,408)  
Cash flows from financing activities:       
 Increase (decrease) in short-term loans  112,714   568,655  
 Repayments of long-term loans  (291,200)   (345,800)  
 Cash dividends   (57,457)   -  
 Treasury stock acquired  (222,266)   (209,804)  
  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (458,209)   13,051  
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates  1,852   9,846  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (218,604)   196,194  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  963,257   767,063  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 744,653   963,257  
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ATTACHMENT 6 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Profit Allocation Proposal 

December 31, 2016 

 

Unit: NT$ 

Beginning retained earnings  $38,602,367 

   Plus: Net Income of year 2016  187,772,102  

   Less: Changes of remeasurement of defined benefit plan (6,053,000) 

10% of legal reserve (18,777,210) 

Equity deduction of special reserve (25,502,627) 

Special reserve for changes of market price of edt's 

shares held by subsidiaries 

 

(1,758,878) 

  

Retained Earnings available for distribution as of Dec. 31, 2016 174,282,754  

  

Distribution Item:  

   Cash dividend for common share holders (NT$0.4 per share) (70,024,642) 

  

Unappropriated Retained Earnings $104,258,112  

 



 

 - 29 - 

ATTACHMENT 7 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Amendment to “Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets” 

 
Original Article Amended Article Notes 

Article 

7 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal 

of real property and equipment: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

4.Appraisal report of real property or 

equipment: In acquiring or disposing of 

real property or equipment where the 

transaction amount reaches 20 percent 

of the company's paid-in capital or 

NT$300 million or more, the company, 

unless transacting with a government 

institution, engaging others to build on 

its own land, engaging others to build 

on rented land, or acquiring or 

disposing of equipment for business 

use, shall obtain an appraisal report 

prior to the date of occurrence of the 

event from a professional appraiser and 

shall further comply with the following 

provisions: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

Article 

7 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal 

of real property and equipment: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

4.Appraisal report of real property or 

equipment: In acquiring or disposing of 

real property or equipment where the 

transaction amount reaches 20 percent 

of the company's paid-in capital or 

NT$300 million or more, the company, 

unless transacting with a government 

agency, engaging others to build on its 

own land, engaging others to build on 

rented land, or acquiring or disposing of 

equipment for business use, shall 

obtain an appraisal report prior to the 

date of occurrence of the event from a 

professional appraiser and shall further 

comply with the following provisions: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

Following ruling 

no. 1060001296 

issued by 

Securities and 

Futures Bureau. 

Article 

9 

The procedures of related party 

transactions: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

2.Appraising and operating procedures: 

When a public company intends to 

acquire or dispose of real property from 

or to a related party, or when it intends 

to acquire or dispose of assets other 

than real property from or to a related 

party and the transaction amount 

reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in 

capital, 10 percent or more of the 

company's total assets, or NT$300 

million or more, except in trading of 

government bonds or bonds under 

repurchase and resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of domestic 

money market funds, the company may 

not proceed to enter into a transaction 

contract or make a payment until the 

following matters have been approved 

by the board of directors and 

recognized by the supervisors: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

 

Article 

9 

The procedures of related party 

transactions: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

2.Appraising and operating procedures: 

When a public company intends to 

acquire or dispose of real property from 

or to a related party, or when it intends 

to acquire or dispose of assets other 

than real property from or to a related 

party and the transaction amount 

reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in 

capital, 10 percent or more of the 

company's total assets, or NT$300 

million or more, except in trading of 

government bonds or bonds under 

repurchase and resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of money 

market funds issued by domestic 

securities investment trust enterprises, 

the company may not proceed to enter 

into a transaction contract or make a 

payment until the following matters 

have been approved by the board of 

directors and recognized by the 

supervisors: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

Following ruling 

no. 1060001296 

issued by 

Securities and 

Futures Bureau. 
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Original Article Amended Article Notes 

Article 

10 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal 

of memberships or intangible assets: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

4.Appraisal report of memberships or 

intangible assets: 

A. Where the company acquires or 

disposes of memberships or 

intangible assets and the transaction 

amount reaches 20 percent or more 

of paid-in capital or NT$100 million or 

more, the company shall engage a 

specialist to issue an appraisal 

report. 

B. Where the company acquires or 

disposes of memberships or 

intangible assets and the transaction 

amount reaches 20 percent or more 

of paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 

more, except in transactions with a 

government institution, the company 

shall engage a certified public 

accountant prior to the date of 

occurrence of the event to render an 

opinion on the reasonableness of the 

transaction price; the CPA shall 

comply with the provisions of 

Statement of Auditing Standards No. 

20 published by the ARDF. 

C.The calculation of the transaction 

amounts referred to in this article 

shall be done in accordance with 

Article 14, paragraph 1, 

subparagraph H herein, and "within 

the preceding year" as used herein 

refers to the year preceding the date 

of occurrence of the current 

transaction. Items for which an 

appraisal report from a professional 

appraiser or a CPA's opinion has 

been obtained need not be counted 

toward the transaction amount. 

Article 

10 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal 

of memberships or intangible assets: 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

4.Appraisal report of memberships or 

intangible assets: 

A. Where the company acquires or 

disposes of memberships or 

intangible assets and the transaction 

amount reaches 20 percent or more 

of paid-in capital or NT$100 million or 

more, the company shall engage a 

specialist to issue an appraisal report. 

B. Where the company acquires or 

disposes of memberships or 

intangible assets and the transaction 

amount reaches 20 percent or more 

of paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 

more, except in transactions with a 

government agency, the company 

shall engage a certified public 

accountant prior to the date of 

occurrence of the event to render an 

opinion on the reasonableness of the 

transaction price; the CPA shall 

comply with the provisions of 

Statement of Auditing Standards No. 

20 published by the ARDF. 

C.The calculation of the transaction 

amounts referred to in this article 

shall be done in accordance with 

Article 14, paragraph 1, 

subparagraph H herein, and "within 

the preceding year" as used herein 

refers to the year preceding the date 

of occurrence of the current 

transaction. Items for which an 

appraisal report from a professional 

appraiser or a CPA's opinion has 

been obtained need not be counted 

toward the transaction amount. 

Following ruling 

no. 1060001296 

issued by 

Securities and 

Futures Bureau. 

Article 

13 

The procedures of conducting a merger, 

demerger, acquisition, or transfer of 

shares: 

1.Appraising and operating procedures:  

A. The company that conducts a 

merger, demerger, acquisition, or 

transfer of shares, may engage a 

CPA, attorney, or securities 

underwriter to discuss statutory 

schedule together and organize a 

project team to follow statutory 

procedures. Prior to convening the 

board of directors to resolve on the 

Article 

13 

The procedures of conducting a merger, 

demerger, acquisition, or transfer of 

shares: 

1.Appraising and operating procedures:  

A. The company that conducts a 

merger, demerger, acquisition, or 

transfer of shares, may engage a 

CPA, attorney, or securities 

underwriter to discuss statutory 

schedule together and organize a 

project team to follow statutory 

procedures. Prior to convening the 

board of directors to resolve on the 

Following ruling 

no. 1060001296 

issued by 

Securities and 

Futures Bureau. 
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Original Article Amended Article Notes 

matter, the company shall engage a 

CPA, attorney, or securities 

underwriter to give an opinion on the 

reasonableness of the share 

exchange ratio, acquisition price, or 

distribution of cash or other property 

to shareholders, and submit it to the 

board of directors for deliberation and 

passage. 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

matter, the company shall engage a 

CPA, attorney, or securities 

underwriter to give an opinion on the 

reasonableness of the share 

exchange ratio, acquisition price, or 

distribution of cash or other property 

to shareholders, and submit it to the 

board of directors for deliberation and 

passage. However, the requirement 

of obtaining an aforesaid opinion on 

reasonableness issued by an expert 

may be exempted in the case of a 

merger by the company of a 

subsidiary in which it directly or 

indirectly holds 100 percent of the 

issued shares or authorized capital, 

and in the case of a merger between 

subsidiaries in which the company 

directly or indirectly holds 100 

percent of the respective subsidiaries’ 

issued shares or authorized capital. 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

Article 

14 

The procedures of public disclosure of 

information: 

1.The following circumstances shall be 

publicly announced: 

A. Acquisition or disposal of real 

property from or to a related party, or 

acquisition or disposal of assets other 

than real property from or to a related 

party where the transaction amount 

reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in 

capital, 10 percent or more of the 

company's total assets, or NT$300 

million or more; provided, this shall 

not apply to trading of government 

bonds or bonds under repurchase 

and resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of 

domestic money market funds. 

B. Merger, demerger, acquisition, or 

transfer of shares. 

C.Losses from derivatives trading 

reaching the limits on aggregate 

losses or losses on individual 

contracts set out in the procedures 

adopted by the company. 

D.Where an asset transaction other 

than any of those referred to in the 

preceding three subparagraphs, a 

disposal of receivables by a financial 

institution, or an investment in the 

mainland China area reaches 20 

percent or more of paid-in capital or 

NT$300 million; provided, this shall 

not apply to the following 

Article 

14 

The procedures of public disclosure of 

information: 

1.The following circumstances shall be 

publicly announced: 

A. Acquisition or disposal of real 

property from or to a related party, or 

acquisition or disposal of assets other 

than real property from or to a related 

party where the transaction amount 

reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in 

capital, 10 percent or more of the 

company's total assets, or NT$300 

million or more; provided, this shall 

not apply to trading of government 

bonds or bonds under repurchase 

and resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of money 

market funds issued by domestic 

securities investment trust 

enterprises. 

B. Merger, demerger, acquisition, or 

transfer of shares. 

C.Losses from derivatives trading 

reaching the limits on aggregate 

losses or losses on individual 

contracts set out in the procedures 

adopted by the company. 

D.Where the type of asset acquired or 

disposed is equipment/machinery for 

business use, the trading 

counterparty is not a related party, 

and the transaction amount is 

NT$500 million or more. The 

preceding transaction amount will be 

Following ruling 

no. 1060001296 

issued by 

Securities and 

Futures Bureau. 
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Original Article Amended Article Notes 

circumstances: 

a.Trading of government bonds. 

b.Securities trading by investment 

professionals on foreign or 

domestic securities exchanges or 

over-the-counter markets, or 

subscription of securities by a 

securities firm, either in the primary 

market or in accordance with 

relevant regulations. 

c.Trading of bonds under 

repurchase/resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of 

domestic money market fund. 

d.Where the type of asset acquired or 

disposed is equipment/machinery 

for business use, the trading 

counterparty is not a related party, 

and the transaction amount is less 

than NT$500 million. 

e.Acquisition or disposal by the 

company in the construction 

business of real property for 

construction use, where the trading 

counterparty is not a related party, 

and the transaction amount is less 

than NT$500 million. 

f.Where land is acquired under an 

arrangement on engaging others to 

build on the company's own land, 

engaging others to build on rented 

land, joint construction and 

allocation of housing units, joint 

construction and allocation of 

ownership percentages, or joint 

construction and separate sale, and 

the amount the company expects to 

invest in the transaction is less than 

NT$500 million. 

E. The amount of transactions above 

shall be calculated as follows, and 

"within the preceding year" refers to 

the year preceding the date of 

occurrence of the current transaction. 

Items duly announced in accordance 

with these Regulations need not be 

counted toward the transaction 

amount. 

a. The amount of any individual 

transaction. 

b. The cumulative transaction amount 

of acquisitions and disposals of the 

same type of underlying asset with 

the same trading counterparty 

within the preceding year. 

c. The cumulative transaction amount 

of real property acquisitions and 

raised to NT$1 billion or more when 

paid-in capital of the company 

reaches NT10 billion. 

E. Acquisition or disposal by the 

company in the construction business 

of real property for construction use, 

where the trading counterparty is not 

a related party, and the transaction 

amount is NT$500 million or more. 

F. Where land is acquired under an 

arrangement on engaging others to 

build on the company's own land, 

engaging others to build on rented 

land, joint construction and allocation 

of housing units, joint construction 

and allocation of ownership 

percentages, or joint construction and 

separate sale, and the amount the 

company expects to invest in the 

transaction is NT$500 million or 

more. 

G.Where an asset transaction other 

than any of those referred to in the 

preceding six subparagraphs, a 

disposal of receivables by a financial 

institution, or an investment in the 

mainland China area reaches 20 

percent or more of paid-in capital or 

NT$300 million; provided, this shall 

not apply to the following 

circumstances: 

a. Trading of government bonds. 

b. Securities trading by investment 

professionals on foreign or 

domestic securities exchanges or 

over-the-counter markets, or 

subscription by investment 

professionals of ordinary corporate 

bonds or of general bank 

debentures without equity 

characteristics that are offered and 

issued in the domestic primary 

market, or subscription by a 

securities firm of securities as 

necessitated by its undertaking 

business or as an advisory 

recommending securities firm for 

an emerging stock company, in 

accordance with the rules of the 

GTSM. 

c. Trading of bonds under 

repurchase/resale agreements, or 

subscription or redemption of 

money market funds issued by 

domestic securities investment trust 

enterprises. 

H.The amount of transactions above 
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Original Article Amended Article Notes 

disposals (cumulative acquisitions 

and disposals, respectively) within 

the same development project 

within the preceding year. 

d. The cumulative transaction amount 

of acquisitions and disposals 

(cumulative acquisitions and 

disposals, respectively) of the same 

security within the preceding year. 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

3.The procedures of publicly announcing 

and reporting: Public announcement 

and regulatory filing procedures: 

A. The company shall publicly announce 

and report the relevant information on 

the FSC's designated website. 

B. The company shall compile monthly 

reports on the status of derivatives 

trading engaged in up to the end of 

the preceding month by itself and any 

subsidiaries that are not domestic 

public companies and enter the 

information in the prescribed format 

into the information reporting website 

designated by the FSC by the 10th 

day of each month. 

C.When the company at the time of 

public announcement makes an error 

or omission in an item required by 

regulations to be publicly announced 

and so is required to correct it, all the 

items shall be again publicly 

announced and reported in their 

entirety. 

D.The company acquiring or disposing 

of assets shall keep all relevant 

contracts, meeting minutes, log 

books, appraisal reports and CPA, 

attorney, and securities underwriter 

opinions at the company 

headquarters, where they shall be 

retained for 5 years except where 

another act provides otherwise. 

E. Where any of the following 

circumstances occurs with respect to 

a transaction that the company has 

already publicly announced and 

reported in accordance with the 

preceding paragraph, a public report 

of relevant information shall be made 

on the information reporting website 

designated by the FSC within 2 days 

commencing immediately from the 

date of occurrence of the event: 

a. Change, termination, or rescission 

of a contract signed in regard to the 

original transaction. 

shall be calculated as follows, and 

"within the preceding year" refers to 

the year preceding the date of 

occurrence of the current transaction. 

Items duly announced in accordance 

with these Regulations need not be 

counted toward the transaction 

amount. 

a. The amount of any individual 

transaction. 

b. The cumulative transaction amount 

of acquisitions and disposals of the 

same type of underlying asset with 

the same trading counterparty 

within the preceding year. 

c. The cumulative transaction amount 

of real property acquisitions and 

disposals (cumulative acquisitions 

and disposals, respectively) within 

the same development project 

within the preceding year. 

d. The cumulative transaction amount 

of acquisitions and disposals 

(cumulative acquisitions and 

disposals, respectively) of the same 

security within the preceding year. 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

3.The procedures of publicly announcing 

and reporting: Public announcement 

and regulatory filing procedures: 

A. The company shall publicly announce 

and report the relevant information on 

the FSC's designated website. 

B. The company shall compile monthly 

reports on the status of derivatives 

trading engaged in up to the end of 

the preceding month by itself and any 

subsidiaries that are not domestic 

public companies and enter the 

information in the prescribed format 

into the information reporting website 

designated by the FSC by the 10th 

day of each month. 

C.When the company at the time of 

public announcement makes an error 

or omission in an item required by 

regulations to be publicly announced 

and so is required to correct it, all the 

items shall be again publicly 

announced and reported in their 

entirety within 2 days counting 

inclusively from the date of knowing 

of such error or omission. 

D.The company acquiring or disposing 

of assets shall keep all relevant 

contracts, meeting minutes, log 

books, appraisal reports and CPA, 
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Original Article Amended Article Notes 

b. The merger, demerger, acquisition, 

or transfer of shares is not 

completed by the scheduled date 

set forth in the contract. 

c. Change to the originally publicly 

announced and reported 

information. 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

attorney, and securities underwriter 

opinions at the company 

headquarters, where they shall be 

retained for 5 years except where 

another act provides otherwise. 

E. Where any of the following 

circumstances occurs with respect to 

a transaction that the company has 

already publicly announced and 

reported in accordance with the 

preceding paragraph, a public report 

of relevant information shall be made 

on the information reporting website 

designated by the FSC within 2 days 

commencing immediately from the 

date of occurrence of the event: 

a. Change, termination, or rescission 

of a contract signed in regard to the 

original transaction. 

b. The merger, demerger, acquisition, 

or transfer of shares is not 

completed by the scheduled date 

set forth in the contract. 

c. Change to the originally publicly 

announced and reported 

information. 

(Below paragraph omitted) 

Article 

20 

In regard to all matters not provided for in 

these Regulations, relevant laws and 

regulations shall govern. After these 

Regulations have been approved by the 

board of directors, they shall be submitted 

to each supervisor, and then to a 

shareholders' meeting for approval; the 

same applies when the procedures are 

amended.  

These Regulations have been passed by 

the board of directors on May 8, 1998. 

The first amendment was approved on 

November 17, 1999. 

The second amendment was approved 

on March 25, 2003. 

The third amendment was approved on 

March 21, 2006. 

The fourth amendment was approved on 

December 21, 2006. 

The fifth amendment was approved on 

March 15, 2007. 

The sixth amendment was approved on 

June 6, 2012. 

The seventh amendment was approved 

on June 11, 2014. 

Article 

20 

In regard to all matters not provided for in 

these Regulations, relevant laws and 

regulations shall govern. After these 

Regulations have been approved by the 

board of directors, they shall be submitted 

to each supervisor, and then to a 

shareholders' meeting for approval; the 

same applies when the procedures are 

amended.  

These Regulations have been passed by 

the board of directors on May 8, 1998. 

The first amendment was approved on 

November 17, 1999. 

The second amendment was approved 

on March 25, 2003. 

The third amendment was approved on 

March 21, 2006. 

The fourth amendment was approved on 

December 21, 2006. 

The fifth amendment was approved on 

March 15, 2007. 

The sixth amendment was approved on 

June 6, 2012. 

The seventh amendment was approved 

on June 11, 2014. 

The eighth amendment was approved on 

X X, 2017. 

Amending the 

approval date of 

this amendment 

agreed by 

Shareholders’ 

Meeting. 
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APPENDIX 1 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Rules of Procedures for Shareholders’ Meeting 

 

Article 1   Shareholders’ Meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”) should be conducted 

in accordance with this Rules of Procedures. 

Article 2   Shareholders or their proxies shall attend the Meeting based on attendance 

certificates and submit the attendance cards for the purpose of signing in. 

The number of shares represented by shareholders attending the Meeting 

shall be calculated in accordance with the attendance cards by the 

shareholders. The attendance and voting of the Meeting should be 

calculated based on number of shares. 

Article 3   Chairman shall call the Meeting to order when the number of shares 

represented by shareholders exceeded half of total outstanding shares. If the 

number of shares represented by the shareholders present at the Meeting 

has not yet constituted the quorum at the time scheduled for the Meeting, the 

chairman may postpone the time for the Meeting. The postponements shall 

be limited to two times at the most. If after two postponements no quorum 

can yet be constituted but the shareholder present at the Meeting represent 

more than one-third of the total outstanding shares, tentative resolutions may 

be made in accordance with Section 1 of Article 175 of the Company Law of 

the Republic of China. The chairman may announce the Meeting at any time 

and submit the tentative resolutions to the Meeting for approval if the number 

of outstanding shares represented by the shareholders present becomes 

sufficient to constitute the quorum during the process of the Meeting. 

Article 4   The venue for a Meeting shall be the premises of the Company, or a place 

easily accessible to shareholders and suitable for a Meeting. The Meeting 

may begin no earlier than 9 a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. 

Article 5  The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be the chairman presiding at the 

Meeting in the case the Meeting is convened by the Board of Directors. If, for 

any reason, the Chairman of the Board of Directors cannot preside at the 

Meeting, the Chairman should designated one of Directors to preside at the 

Meeting. Where the Chairman doesn’t designate a proxy, Directors may elect 

a person among themselves to act on behalf of Chairman. When the Meeting 

is convened by other persons who have the convening right, the Meeting 

shall be presided by the convener. If there are over two conveners, they 

should elect one as chairman. In the event that the chairman adjourns the 
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Meeting in violation of these Rules of Procedures, the shareholders may 

designate, by a majority of votes represented by shareholders attending the 

Meeting, one person as chairman to continue the Meeting. After the 

adjournment of the Meeting, the shareholders may not elect a chairman to 

continue the Meeting at the original address or at another location.   

Article 6   The Company may appoint designated counsel, CPA, or other related 

persons to attend the Meeting and answer related questions. Persons 

handling affairs of the Meeting shall wear identification cards or badges. 

Article 7   The process of the Meeting shall be tape recorded or videotaped and these 

tapes shall be preserved for at least one year.  

Article 8   The agenda of the Meeting shall be set by the Board of Directors if the 

Meeting is convened by the Board of Directors. Unless otherwise resolved at 

the Meeting, the Meeting shall proceed in accordance with the agenda. The 

above provision applies mutatis mutandis to cases where the Meeting is 

convened by any person, other than the Board of Directors, entitled to 

convene such Meeting. Unless otherwise resolved at the Meeting, the 

chairman cannot announce adjournment of the Meeting before all the 

discussion items (include special motions) listed in the agenda are resolved. 

After the adjournment of the Meeting, the shareholders may not elect a 

chairman to continue the Meeting at the original address or at another 

location. 

Article 9  When a shareholder present at the Meeting wishes to speak, a Speech Note 

should be filled out with summary of the speech, the shareholder’s number 

and name. The sequence of speeches by shareholders should be decided by 

the chairman. If any shareholder present at the Meeting submit a Speech 

Note but does not speak, no speech should be deemed to have been made 

by such shareholder. In case the contents of the speech of a shareholder are 

inconsistent with the contents of the Speech Note, the contents of actual 

speech shall prevail. Unless otherwise permitted by the chairman and the 

shareholder in speaking, no shareholder shall interrupt the speeches of the 

other shareholders, otherwise the chairman shall stop such interruption.  

Article 10  Unless otherwise permitted by the chairman, each shareholder shall not, for 

each discussion item, speak more than twice and each time not exceeding 5 

minutes. In case of speech of any shareholder violates the above provision or 

exceeds the scope of the discussion item, the chairman may stop the speech 

of such shareholder.  
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Article 11  A corporate shareholder can only designated one representative to attend 

the Meeting. If a corporate shareholder designated two or more 

representatives to attend the Meeting, only one representative can speak for 

each discussion item.  

Article 12  After the speech of a shareholder, the chairman may respond himself/herself 

or appoint an appropriate person to respond.  

Article 13  The chairman may announce to end the discussion of any resolution and go 

into voting if the chairman deems it appropriate.  

Article 14  Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act, the adoption of a 

discussion shall require an affirmative vote of a majority of the voting rights 

represented by the attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, for each 

discussion item, the chairman shall inquiry if there is no one opposed, then 

the discussion item should be deemed adopted and the effect is the same as 

voting. A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except 

when the shares are deemed non-voting shares held by the Company. When 

one person is concurrently appointed as proxy by two or more shareholders, 

the voting rights represented by that proxy may not exceed 3 percent of the 

voting rights represented by the total number of issued shares. If that 

percentage is exceeded, the voting rights in excess of that percentage shall 

not be included in the calculation. 

Article 15  If there is amendment to or substitute for a discussion item, the chairman 

shall decide the sequence of voting for such discussion item, the amendment 

or the substitute. If any one of them has been adopted, the others shall be 

deemed vetoed and no further voting is necessary.  

Article 16  The persons to check and the persons to record the ballots during a vote by 

casting ballots shall be appointed by the chairman. The persons checking the 

ballots shall be a shareholder. The result of voting shall be announced at the 

Meeting and placed on record.  

Article 17  The chairman may conduct the disciplinary officers or the security guard to 

assist in keeping order of the Meeting place. Such disciplinary officers or 

security guards shall wear badges marked “Disciplinary Officers”.  

Article 18  When a Meeting is in progress, the chairman may announce a break based 

on time considerations. 

Article 19  Any matter not provided in this Rules of Procedures shall be handled in 

accordance with the Company Act or Article of Incorporation of the Company.  

Article 20  These Rules, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented after 

adoption by shareholders’ meetings. 
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APPENDIX 2 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Articles of Incorporation 

 

 

Chapter 1: General Provisions 

 

Article 1 

Under the Company Act, the name of the Corporation shall be Emerging Display 

Technologies Corporation. 

 

Article 2 

The scope of business of the Corporation shall be as follows: 

1. CC01080 - Electronic Parts and Components Manufacturing 

2. CC01110 - Computer and Peripherals Manufacturing 

3. F119010 - Electronic Materials Wholesale 

4. ZZ99999 - In addition to licensed business activities, the Corporation may conduct 

business that is neither prohibited nor restricted by law. 

 

Article 3 

The Corporation shall have its headquarters in Kaohsiung City, and shall be free, with the 

resolution of the Board of Directors, to set up branch offices at various locations in 

Taiwan and abroad when necessary. 

 

Article 4 

Public announcements of the Corporation shall be made in accordance with regulations 

in Article 28 of the Company Act. 

 

 

Chapter 2: Stock Shares 

 

Article 5 

The total capital stock of the Corporation shall be in the amount of 3,500,000,000 New 

Taiwan Dollars, divided into 350,000,000 shares, with the par value at 10 New Taiwan 

Dollars each shares. The Board of Directors shall be authorized to distribute the shares 

in installments. The Corporation may issue employee stock options. A total of 10,500,000 

shares among the total capital stock should be reserved for issuing employee stock 

options. Transfer of shares to employees by the corporation at a price lower than 

average of actual price brought back shall be adopted by a large majority representing 

two thirds of the votes at a shareholders' meeting attended by shareholders representing 

a majority of the total number of issued shares. 
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Article 6 

The total amount of the Corporation reinvestment shall not be subjected to the restriction 

of forty percent or less of the Corporation’s paid-up capital as regulated in Article 13 of 

the Company Act. 

 

Article 7 

The share certificates of the Corporation shall all be registered that are affixed with the 

signatures or personal seals of three or more directors of the Corporation and legally 

certified before issuance thereof. For the shares to be issued to the public, the 

Corporation may be exempted from printing any share certificate for the shares issued, 

but shall appoint a centralized securities custody enterprise/institution to make 

recordation of the issue of such shares. 

 

Article 8 

Shareholders who wish to assign their shares should fill out an application, which is 

signed respectively by assignor and assignee, and apply for assignment with the 

Corporation. Assignment of shares shall not be set up as a defence against the 

Corporation, unless the assignee have been recorded in the shareholders' roster. 

 

Article 9 

The entries in the shareholders' roster shall not be altered within 60 days prior to the 

convening date of a regular shareholders' meeting, or within 30 days prior to the 

convening date of a special shareholders' meeting, or within 5 days prior to the target 

date fixed by the Corporation for distribution of dividends, bonus or other benefits. 

 

Article 10 

Stock transactions of the Corporation shall follow the “Regulations Governing the 

Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies” imposed by competent 

authority. 

 

 

Chapter 3: Shareholders’ Meeting 

 

Article 11 

Shareholders’ meetings of the Corporation shall be of the following two kinds: (1) regular 

meeting of shareholders and (2) special meeting of shareholders. Regular meeting of 

shareholders shall be held at least once every year and convened within six months after 

close of each fiscal year by the Board of Directors. Special meeting of shareholders shall 

be held when necessary. All meetings of shareholders shall be convened in accordance 

with relevant laws, rules and regulations. 
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Article 12 

A shareholder may appoint a proxy to attend a shareholders' meeting in his/her/its behalf 

by executing a power of attorney printed by the company stating therein the scope of 

power authorized to the proxy if he/she/it is unable to attend.  

 

Article 13 

Except in the circumstances set forth in Article 179 of the Company Act which there is no 

right to vote, a shareholder shall have one voting power in respect of each share in 

his/her/its possession. 

 

Article 14 

Resolutions at a shareholders' meeting shall, unless otherwise provided for in the 

Company Act, be adopted by a majority vote of the shareholders present, who represent 

more than one-half of the total number of voting shares.  

 

 

Chapter 4: Directors and Supervisors 

 

Article 15 

The Corporation shall have seven to nine directors and three supervisors who shall be 

elected by the shareholders' meeting from among the persons with disposing capacity. 

The term of office of a director and a supervisor shall be three years and eligible for 

re-election. The total number of shares held by all directors and supervisors should 

respectively be no less than the percentage regulated by competent authority. 

 

The election of directors and supervisors shall adopt a candidates nomination system as 

specified in Article 192-1 of the Company Act. Accepting the nomination of director and 

supervisor candidates, announcement to the public, and related issues shall comply with 

the relevant regulations of the Company Act and the Securities and Exchange Act. The 

election of independent directors and non-independent directors shall be held together. 

The number of independent directors and non-independent directors elected shall be 

calculated separately. 

 

Independent directors must be not less than two in number and not less than one-fifth of 

the total number of directors in the aforesaid number of directors. The election of 

independent directors shall adopt a candidates nomination system. The independent 

directors shall be elected from among a list of nominated candidates in the shareholders 

meeting. Regulations governing the professional qualifications, restrictions on 

shareholdings and concurrent positions held, assessment of independence, method of 

nomination, and other matters for compliance with respect to independent directors shall 

be prescribed by the competent authority. 
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Article 16 

The Board of Directors shall be organized by the directors and elect a chairman of the 

board directors from among the directors by a majority vote at a meeting attended by 

over two-thirds of the directors. The chairman of the Board of Directors shall externally 

represent the Corporation. The Board of Directors shall be authorized to determine the 

remuneration for directors and supervisors, taking in account the standards of related 

listed companies, business operation of the Corporation, and the value of the services 

provided. The remuneration of the chairman of the Board of Directors shall be limited to 

no more than double that of the general manager. 

 

Article 17 

The chairman of the Board of Directors shall manage affairs of the Corporation in 

accordance with the law, these Articles of Incorporation, and the resolutions of 

shareholders meetings as well as the Board of Directors. In case the chairman of the 

Board of Directors can not exercise his power and authority for any cause, the proxy 

shall act according to Article 208 of the Company Act. 

 

Article 18 

The meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held at least once every quarter, and may 

be convened, at any time, in cases of necessity. Unless otherwise provided for in the 

Company Act and these Articles of Incorporation, resolutions of the Board of Directors 

shall be adopted by a majority of the directors at a meeting attended by a majority of the 

directors. In case a director cannot attend a meeting of the Board of Directors for any 

cause, he/she shall appoint another director to in his/her behalf by issuing a written proxy 

and state therein the scope of authority with reference to the subjects to be discussed at 

the meeting. A director may accept the appointment to act as the proxy of one other 

director only. In case a meeting of the Board of Directors is proceeded via visual 

communication network, then the directors taking part in such a visual communication 

meeting shall be deemed to have attended the meeting in person. 

 

Notices for the meeting of the Board of Directors shall be sent via written form, fax, or 

E-mail. 

 

Article 19 

In addition to performing their duties, supervisors may attend the meeting of the Board of 

Directors to state their opinions, but they shall not have a vote. 

 

Article 19-1 

The entitled shareholders may recommend the list of directors and supervisors as 

reference for election of the following term. 

 

Article 19-2 

The Corporation may purchase liability insurance for the legal compensation liabilities of 

directors and supervisors on the execution of business within their term of office. 
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Chapter 5: Managerial Personnel 

 

Article 20 

The Corporation may employ a certain number of managerial personnel. The 

appointment, discharge and the remuneration of managerial personnel shall be in 

accordance with Article 29 of the Company Act. The remuneration of managerial 

personnel shall take into account the standards of related listed companies in the 

industry, business operation of the Corporation, and the value of the services provided. 

 

 

Chapter 6: Accounting 

 

Article 21 

The Board of Directors shall prepare the following reports at the end of each fiscal year 

and send to supervisors for verification 30 days prior to the regular meeting of 

shareholders, then submit to the shareholders' meeting for ratification. 

1. Annual business report, 

2. Financial statements, 

3. Surplus earnings distribution or loss make-up proposal. 

 

Article 22 

The Corporation is at the steady growth stage of its business development. Residual 

dividend policy shall be adopted for dividend distribution of the Corporation, taking into 

consideration the future capital budget plans and operational capital needs of the 

Corporation, as well as the extent of dilution on earnings per share and influence upon 

return on equity. Hence, future distribution of earnings shall be made priority by way of 

cash dividend over stock dividend, provided the ratio for cash dividend shall be fifty 

percent or more of the total annual distribution. 

 

Article 22-1 

When there is profit for the current year, the Corporation shall allocate 5 percent or more 

as employees' compensation and 3 percent or less as remuneration for directors and 

supervisors. However, the Corporation's accumulated losses shall have been covered. 

 

Qualification requirements of employees, including the employees of subsidiaries of the 

Corporation meeting certain specific requirements, may be entitled to receive shares or 

cash for above employees' compensation. 
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Article 23 

The Corporation, when allocating its surplus profits after having paid all taxes and dues 

and covered accumulated losses, shall first set aside legal reserve and special reserve in 

accordance with relevant laws, rules and regulations. The said special reserve shall 

require to be reversed before distribution of earnings. If there is a remaining balance, the 

Board of Directors shall propose an earning distribution plan which distribution amount is 

no more than 80 percent of retained earnings available for distribution for the current 

year, then summit it to the shareholders’ meeting for concurrence. 

 

 

Chapter 7: Supplemental Provisions 

 

Article 24 

Owing to business purpose, the Corporation may make endorsements/ guarantees for 

others. 

 

Article 25 

The internal organizational regulations of the Corporation and the details of business 

operation shall be determined separately by the Board of Directors. 

 

Article 26 

In regard to all matters not provided for in these Articles of Incorporation, the Company 

Act and other rules and regulations shall govern. 

 

Article 27 

These Articles of Incorporation are agreed to on September 14, 1994.  

The first Amendment was approved on December 5, 1996. 

The second Amendment was approved on October 20, 1997. 

The third Amendment was approved on December 29, 1997. 

The fourth Amendment was approved on May 28, 1998. 

The fifth Amendment was approved on May 27, 1999. 

The sixth Amendment was approved on May 23, 2000. 

The seventh Amendment was approved on June 12, 2001. 

The eighth Amendment was approved on June 13, 2002. 

The ninth Amendment was approved on May 27, 2004. 

The tenth Amendment was approved on May 31, 2005. 

The eleventh Amendment was approved on June 8, 2006. 

The twelfth Amendment was approved on June 11, 2007. 

The thirteenth Amendment was approved on June 10, 2009. 

The fourteenth Amendment was approved on June 6, 2012. 

The fifteenth Amendment was approved on June 11, 2014. 

The sixteenth Amendment was approved on June 7, 2016. 
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APPENDIX 3 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets 

 

Article 1 

The company adopts the Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets 

(hereinafter "these Regulations") to secure assets and implement information disclosure. 

 

Article 2 

These Regulations are adopted in accordance with "Regulations Governing the 

Acquisition and Disposal of Assets by Public Companies" and relevant laws. 

 

Article 3 

The term "assets" as used in these Regulations includes the following: 

1.Investments in stocks, government bonds, corporate bonds, financial bonds, securities 

representing interest in a fund, depositary receipts, call (put) warrants, beneficial 

interest securities, and asset-backed securities. 

2.Real property (including land, houses and buildings, investment property, rights to use 

land, and construction enterprise inventory) and equipment. 

3.Memberships. 

4.Patents, copyrights, trademarks, franchise rights, and other intangible assets. 

5.Claims of financial institutions (including receivables, bills purchased and discounted, 

loans, and overdue receivables). 

6.Derivatives. 

7.Assets acquired or disposed of in connection with mergers, demergers, acquisitions, or 

transfer of shares in accordance with law. 

8.Other major assets. 

 

Article 4 

Terms used in these Regulations are defined as follows: 

1.Derivatives: Forward contracts, options contracts, futures contracts, leverage contracts, 

and swap contracts, and compound contracts combining the above products, whose 

value is derived from assets, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, indexes or other 

interests. The term "forward contracts" does not include insurance contracts, 

performance contracts, after-sales service contracts, long-term leasing contracts, or 

long-term purchase (sales) agreements. 

2.Assets acquired or disposed through mergers, demergers, acquisitions, or transfer of 

shares in accordance with law: Refers to assets acquired or disposed through mergers, 

demergers, or acquisitions conducted under the Business Mergers and Acquisitions 

Act, Financial Holding Company Act, Financial Institution Merger Act and other acts, or 

to transfer of shares from another company through issuance of new shares of its own 

as the consideration therefor (hereinafter "transfer of shares") under Article 156, 

paragraph 8 of the Company Act. 

3.Related party or subsidiary: As defined in the Regulations Governing the Preparation 

of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 



 

 - 45 - 

4.Professional appraiser: Refers to a real property appraiser or other person duly 

authorized by law to engage in the value appraisal of real property or equipment. 

5.Date of occurrence: Refers to the date of contract signing, date of payment, date of 

consignment trade, date of transfer, dates of boards of directors resolutions, or other 

date that can confirm the counterpart and monetary amount of the transaction, 

whichever date is earlier; provided, for investment for which approval of the competent 

authority is required, the earlier of the above date or the date of receipt of approval by 

the competent authority shall apply. 

6.Mainland China area investment: Refers to investments in the mainland China area 

approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs Investment Commission or conducted in 

accordance with the provisions of the Regulations Governing Permission for 

Investment or Technical Cooperation in the Mainland Area. 

7.Within the preceding year: Refers to the year preceding the date of acquisition or 

disposal of assets. Items duly announced in accordance with these Regulations need 

not be counted toward the transaction amount. 

8.Financial statements for the most recent period: Refers to financial statements certified 

or reviewed by a certified public accountant prior to the date of acquisition or disposal 

of assets. 

 

Article 5 

Investment quota of real property that is not for business use and securities: 

1.Total amounts of real property that is not for business use shall not exceed 50 percent 

of equities. 

2.Total amounts of securities shall not exceed 100 percent of equities. 

3.The amount of individual securities shall not exceed 25 percent of equities. 

 

Article 6 

Professional appraisers and their officers, certified public accounts, attorneys, and 

securities underwriters that provide the company with appraisal reports, certified public 

accountant's opinions, attorney's opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall not be a 

related party of any party to the transaction. 

 

Article 7 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal of real property and equipment: 

1.Appraising and operating procedures: The company shall follow internal control 

procedure – property, plant and equipment cycle to acquire or dispose real property 

and equipment. 

2.Determination process of the transaction terms and the degree of authority delegated: 

A.For acquisition or disposal of real property, the company shall refer to publicly 

announced current value, assessed value or actual transaction price of real property 

nearby to determine trade terms and price then report to chairman. The transaction 

shall be approved following the authority regulation where its amount reaches 

NT$100 million or less, otherwise the transaction shall be additionally submitted for 

approval in advance by the board of directors. 

B.For acquisition or disposal of equipment, the company shall perform one of price 

inquiry, price comparison, price bargain or tender. The transaction shall be approved 

following the authority regulation where its amount reaches NT$100 million or less, 

otherwise the transaction shall be additionally submitted for approval in advance by 

the board of directors. 
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C.With respect to the company's acquisition or disposal of assets that is subject to the 

approval of the board of directors under the company's procedures or other laws or 

regulations, if a director expresses dissent and it is contained in the minutes or a 

written statement, the company shall submit the director's dissenting opinion to each 

supervisor. Where the position of independent director has been created in 

accordance with the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Act (hereinafter "the 

Act"), when a transaction involving the acquisition or disposal of assets is submitted 

for discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the preceding paragraph, the 

board of directors shall take into full consideration each independent director's 

opinions. If an independent director objects to or expresses reservations about any 

matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. Where 

an audit committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act, any transaction involving major assets or derivatives shall be approved by more 

than half of all audit committee members and submitted to the board of directors for 

a resolution, and shall be subject to mutatis mutandis application of Article 18, 

paragraphs 4 and paragraphs 5. 

3.The units responsible for implementation: The transaction shall be implemented by 

using department and administration department after approval. 

4.Appraisal report of real property or equipment: In acquiring or disposing of real 

property or equipment where the transaction amount reaches 20 percent of the 

company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or more, the company, unless transacting 

with a government institution, engaging others to build on its own land, engaging 

others to build on rented land, or acquiring or disposing of equipment for business use, 

shall obtain an appraisal report prior to the date of occurrence of the event from a 

professional appraiser and shall further comply with the following provisions: 

A.Where due to special circumstances it is necessary to give a limited price, specified 

price, or special price as a reference basis for the transaction price, the transaction 

shall be submitted for approval in advance by the board of directors, and the same 

procedure shall be followed for any future changes to the terms and conditions of the 

transaction. 

B.Where the transaction amount is NT$1 billion or more, appraisals from two or more 

professional appraisers shall be obtained. 

C.Where any one of the following circumstances applies with respect to the 

professional appraiser's appraisal results, unless all the appraisal results for the 

assets to be acquired are higher than the transaction amount, or all the appraisal 

results for the assets to be disposed of are lower than the transaction amount, a 

certified public accountant shall be engaged to perform the appraisal in accordance 

with the provisions of Statement of Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the ROC 

Accounting Research and Development Foundation (ARDF) and render a specific 

opinion regarding the reason for the discrepancy and the appropriateness of the 

transaction price: 

a.The discrepancy between the appraisal result and the transaction amount is 20 

percent or more of the transaction amount. 

b.The discrepancy between the appraisal results of two or more professional 

appraisers is 10 percent or more of the transaction amount. 

D.No more than 3 months may elapse between the date of the appraisal report issued 

by a professional appraiser and the contract execution date; provided, where the 

publicly announced current value for the same period is used and not more than 6 

months have elapsed, an opinion may still be issued by the original professional 

appraiser. 
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E.Where the company acquires or disposes of assets through court auction 
procedures, the evidentiary documentation issued by the court may be substituted 
for the appraisal report or CPA opinion. 

F.The calculation of the transaction amounts referred to in this article shall be done in 
accordance with Article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph H herein, and "within the 
preceding year" as used herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence 
of the current transaction. Items for which an appraisal report from a professional 
appraiser or a CPA's opinion has been obtained need not be counted toward the 
transaction amount. 

 
Article 8 
The procedures of acquisition or disposal of securities: 
1.Appraising and operating procedures: The company shall follow internal control 

procedure – investment cycle to acquire or dispose securities. 
2.Determination process of the transaction terms and the degree of authority delegated: 

A.For acquisition or disposal of securities on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (TWSE) or on 
the GreTai Securities Market (GTSM), the company shall analyze and make decision 
based on the market status by responsible units. The transaction shall be approved 
following the authority regulation where its amount reaches NT$100 million or less, 
otherwise the transaction shall be additionally submitted for approval in advance by 
the board of directors. 

B.For acquisition or disposal of securities bypassing the Taiwan Stock Exchange 
(TWSE) or on the GreTai Securities Market (GTSM), the company shall consider the 
book value per share, profitability, future development potential and so on. The 
transaction shall be approved following the authority regulation where its amount 
reaches NT$100 million or less, otherwise the transaction shall be additionally 
submitted for approval in advance by the board of directors. 

C.With respect to the company's acquisition or disposal of assets that is subject to the 
approval of the board of directors under the company's procedures or other laws or 
regulations, if a director expresses dissent and it is contained in the minutes or a 
written statement, the company shall submit the director's dissenting opinion to each 
supervisor. Where the position of independent director has been created in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act, when a transaction involving the 
acquisition or disposal of assets is submitted for discussion by the board of directors 
pursuant to the preceding paragraph, the board of directors shall take into full 
consideration each independent director's opinions. If an independent director 
objects to or expresses reservations about any matter, it shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the board of directors meeting. Where an audit committee has been 
established in accordance with the provisions of the Act, any transaction involving 
major assets or derivatives shall be approved by more than half of all audit 
committee members and submitted to the board of directors for a resolution, and 
shall be subject to mutatis mutandis application of Article 18, paragraphs 4 and 
paragraphs 5. 

3.The units responsible for implementation: The transaction shall be implemented by 
finance department after approval. 

4.Appraisal of transaction price: The company acquiring or disposing of securities shall, 
prior to the date of occurrence of the event, obtain financial statements of the issuing 
company for the most recent period, certified or reviewed by a certified public 
accountant, for reference in appraising the transaction price, and if the dollar amount of 
the transaction is 20 percent of the company's paid-in capital or NT$300 million or 
more, the company shall additionally engage a certified public accountant prior to the 
date of occurrence of the event to provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of 
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the transaction price. If the CPA needs to use the report of an expert as evidence, the 
CPA shall do so in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Auditing Standards 
No. 20 published by the ARDF. This requirement does not apply, however, to publicly 
quoted prices of securities that have an active market, or any of the following items 
provided by regulations of the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC). 
A.Securities acquired through cash contribution in an incorporation by promotion or by 

public offering. 
B.Securities issued at face value by an issuing company carrying out a cash capital 

increase in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, with the company as a 
sponsor of the issue. 

C.Securities issued by an investee company wholly invested by the company that is 
carrying out a cash capital increase, with the company as a sponsor of the issue. 

D.Securities listed and traded on the TWSE or on the GTSM and emerging stocks. 
E.Government bonds or bonds in repurchase or reverse purchase agreements. 
F.Domestic funds or overseas funds. 
G.TWSE or GTSM listed securities acquired or disposed of in accordance with the 

TWSE or GTSM rules governing the purchase of listed securities by reverse auction 
or rules governing the auction of listed securities. 

H.Securities acquired through the company’s sponsorship of a cash capital increase by 
a public company, when the securities acquired are not privately placed. 

I.Subscription to fund shares before the establishment of a fund in accordance with 
Article 11, paragraph 1 of the Securities Investment Trust and Consulting Act and the 
FSC's 1 November 2004 Order No. 
Financial-Supervisory-Securities-IV-0930005249. 

J.Subscription or redemption of domestic private placement funds, provided that the 
trust agreement for the fund specifies an investment strategy in which, aside from 
securities margin transactions and open positions held in securities-related products, 
the investment scope of the remaining portion is the same as that of a publicly 
offered fund. 

The calculation of the transaction amounts referred to in this article shall be done in 
accordance with Article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph H herein, and "within the 
preceding year" as used herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of 
the current transaction. Items for which an appraisal report from a professional 
appraiser or a CPA's opinion has been obtained need not be counted toward the 
transaction amount. 

 
Article 9 
The procedures of related party transactions: 
1.When the company engages in any acquisition or disposal of assets from or to a 

related party, in addition to ensuring that the necessary resolutions are adopted and 
the reasonableness of the transaction terms is appraised, if the transaction amount 
reaches 10 percent or more of the company's total assets, the company shall also 
obtain an appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's opinion in 

compliance with the provisions of Article 7, 8, 10 and this article. The calculation of the 
transaction amounts referred to in this article shall be done in accordance with Article 
14, paragraph 1, subparagraph H herein, and "within the preceding year" as used 
herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current transaction. 
Items for which an appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's opinion 
has been obtained need not be counted toward the transaction amount. When judging 
whether a trading counterparty is a related party, in addition to legal formalities, the 
substance of the relationship shall also be considered. 



 

 - 49 - 

2.Appraising and operating procedures: When a public company intends to acquire or 

dispose of real property from or to a related party, or when it intends to acquire or 

dispose of assets other than real property from or to a related party and the transaction 

amount reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital, 10 percent or more of the 

company's total assets, or NT$300 million or more, except in trading of government 

bonds or bonds under repurchase and resale agreements, or subscription or 

redemption of domestic money market funds, the company may not proceed to enter 

into a transaction contract or make a payment until the following matters have been 

approved by the board of directors and recognized by the supervisors: 

A.The purpose, necessity and anticipated benefit of the acquisition or disposal of 

assets. 

B.The reason for choosing the related party as a trading counterparty. 

C.With respect to the acquisition of real property from a related party, information 

regarding appraisal of the reasonableness of the preliminary transaction terms in 

accordance with paragraph 3, subparagraph A to subparagraph D. 

D.The date and price at which the related party originally acquired the real property, 

the original trading counterparty, and that trading counterparty's relationship to the 

company and the related party. 

E.Monthly cash flow forecasts for the year commencing from the anticipated month of 

signing of the contract, and evaluation of the necessity of the transaction, and 

reasonableness of the funds utilization. 

F.An appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's opinion obtained in 

compliance with the preceding paragraph. 

G.Restrictive covenants and other important stipulations associated with the 

transaction. 

The calculation of the transaction amounts referred to in this article shall be done in 

accordance with Article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph H herein, and "within the 

preceding year" as used herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of 

the current transaction. Items for which an appraisal report from a professional 

appraiser or a CPA's opinion has been obtained need not be counted toward the 

transaction amount. 

With respect to the acquisition or disposal of business-use equipment between the 

company and subsidiaries, the company's board of directors may delegate the board 

chairman to decide such matters when the transaction is within a certain amount and 

have the decisions subsequently submitted to and ratified by the next board of 

directors meeting. 

Where the position of independent director has been created in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act, when a transaction involving the acquisition or disposal of assets 

is submitted for discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the preceding 

paragraph, the board of directors shall take into full consideration each independent 

director's opinions. If an independent director objects to or expresses reservations 

about any matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. 

Where an audit committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of 

the Act, any transaction involving major assets or derivatives shall be approved by 

more than half of all audit committee members and submitted to the board of directors 

for a resolution, and shall be subject to mutatis mutandis application of Article 18, 

paragraphs 4 and paragraphs 5. 
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3.Evaluating the reasonableness of the transaction costs: 

A.The company that acquires real property from a related party shall evaluate the 

reasonableness of the transaction costs by the following means: 

a.Based upon the related party's transaction price plus necessary interest on funding 

and the costs to be duly borne by the buyer. "Necessary interest on funding" is 

imputed as the weighted average interest rate on borrowing in the year the 

company purchases the property; provided, it may not be higher than the 

maximum non-financial industry lending rate announced by the Ministry of 

Finance. 

b.Total loan value appraisal from a financial institution where the related party has 

previously created a mortgage on the property as security for a loan; provided, the 

actual cumulative amount loaned by the financial institution shall have been 70 

percent or more of the financial institution's appraised loan value of the property 

and the period of the loan shall have been 1 year or more. However, this shall not 

apply where the financial institution is a related party of one of the trading 

counterparties. 

B.Where land and structures thereupon are combined as a single property purchased 

in one transaction, the transaction costs for the land and the structures may be 

separately appraised in accordance with either of the means listed in subparagraph 

A. 

C.The company that acquires real property from a related party and appraises the cost 

of the real property in accordance with subparagraph A and subparagraph B shall 

also engage a CPA to check the appraisal and render a specific opinion. 

D.When the results of the company's appraisal conducted in accordance with 

subparagraph A and subparagraph B are uniformly lower than the transaction price, 

the matter shall be handled in compliance with subparagraph E. However, where the 

following circumstances exist, objective evidence has been submitted and specific 

opinions on reasonableness have been obtained from a professional real property 

appraiser and a CPA have been obtained, this restriction shall not apply: 

a.Where the related party acquired undeveloped land or leased land for 

development, it may submit proof of compliance with one of the following 

conditions: 

Where undeveloped land is appraised in accordance with the means in 

subparagraph A to subparagraph C , and structures according to the related 

party's construction cost plus reasonable construction profit are valued in excess 

of the actual transaction price. The "Reasonable construction profit" shall be 

deemed the average gross operating profit margin of the related party's 

construction division over the most recent 3 years or the gross profit margin for 

the construction industry for the most recent period as announced by the Ministry 

of Finance, whichever is lower. 

Completed transactions by unrelated parties within the preceding year involving 

other floors of the same property or neighboring or closely valued parcels of land, 

where the land area and transaction terms are similar after calculation of 

reasonable price discrepancies in floor or area land prices in accordance with 

standard property market practices. 

Completed leasing transactions by unrelated parties for other floors of the same 

property from within the preceding year, where the transaction terms are similar 

after calculation of reasonable price discrepancies among floors in accordance 

with standard property leasing market practices. 
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b.Where the company acquiring real property from a related party provides evidence 

that the terms of the transaction are similar to the terms of transactions completed 

for the acquisition of neighboring or closely valued parcels of land of a similar size 

by unrelated parties within the preceding year. Completed transactions for 

neighboring or closely valued parcels of land in the preceding paragraph in 

principle refers to parcels on the same or an adjacent block and within a distance 

of no more than 500 meters or parcels close in publicly announced current value; 

transaction for similarly sized parcels in principle refers to transactions completed 

by unrelated parties for parcels with a land area of no less than 50 percent of the 

property in the planned transaction; within the preceding year refers to the year 

preceding the date of occurrence of the acquisition of the real property. 

E.Where the company acquires real property from a related party and the results of 

appraisals conducted in accordance with subparagraph A to subparagraph D are 

uniformly lower than the transaction price, the following steps shall be taken. The 

company and a public company uses the equity method to account for its investment 

in the company that has set aside a special reserve under the following description 

may not utilize the special reserve until it has recognized a loss on decline in market 

value of the assets it purchased at a premium, or they have been disposed of, or 

adequate compensation has been made, or the status quo ante has been restored, 

or there is other evidence confirming that there was nothing unreasonable about the 

transaction, and the FSC has given its consent. 

a.A special reserve shall be set aside in accordance with Article 41, paragraph 1 of 

the Act against the difference between the real property transaction price and the 

appraised cost, and may not be distributed or used for capital increase or issuance 

of bonus shares. Where a public company uses the equity method to account for 

its investment in the company, then the special reserve called for under Article 41, 

paragraph 1 of the Act shall be set aside pro rata in a proportion consistent with the 

share of public company's equity stake in the company. 

b.Supervisors shall comply with Article 218 of the Company Act. 

c.Actions taken pursuant to a. and b. of subparagraph E shall be reported to a 

shareholders meeting, and the details of the transaction shall be disclosed in the 

annual report and any investment prospectus. 

F.Where the company acquires real property from a related party and one of the 

following circumstances exists, the acquisition shall be conducted in accordance 

with paragraph 1 and paragraph 2, but shall not apply paragraph 3, subparagraph A 

to subparagraph C: 

a.The related party acquired the real property through inheritance or as a gift. 

b.More than 5 years will have elapsed from the time the related party signed the 

contract to obtain the real property to the signing date for the current transaction. 

c.The real property is acquired through signing of a joint development contract with 

the related party, or through engaging a related party to build real property, either 

on the company's own land or on rented land. 

G.When the company obtains real property from a related party, it shall also comply 

with paragraph 3, subparagraph E if there is other evidence indicating that the 

acquisition was not an arm’s length transaction. 
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Article 10 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal of memberships or intangible assets: 

1.Appraising and operating procedures: The company shall follow internal control 

procedure – purchase and payment cycle to acquire or dispose memberships or 

intangible assets. 

2.Determination process of the transaction terms and the degree of authority delegated: 

A.For acquisition or disposal of memberships, the company shall refer to fair value to 

determine transaction terms and transaction price then make the analysis report. 

The transaction shall be approved following the authority regulation where its 

amount reaches NT$100 million or less, otherwise the transaction shall be 

additionally submitted for approval in advance by the board of directors. 

B.For acquisition or disposal of intangible assets, the company shall refer to fair value 

or appraisal report issued by a specialist to determine transaction terms and 

transaction price then make the analysis report. The transaction shall be approved 

following the authority regulation where its amount reaches NT$100 million or less, 

otherwise the transaction shall be additionally submitted for approval in advance by 

the board of directors. 

C.With respect to the company's acquisition or disposal of assets that is subject to the 

approval of the board of directors under the company's procedures or other laws or 

regulations, if a director expresses dissent and it is contained in the minutes or a 

written statement, the company shall submit the director's dissenting opinion to each 

supervisor. Where the position of independent director has been created in 

accordance with the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Act (hereinafter "the 

Act"), when a transaction involving the acquisition or disposal of assets is submitted 

for discussion by the board of directors pursuant to the preceding paragraph, the 

board of directors shall take into full consideration each independent director's 

opinions. If an independent director objects to or expresses reservations about any 

matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. Where 

an audit committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act, any transaction involving major assets or derivatives shall be approved by more 

than half of all audit committee members and submitted to the board of directors for 

a resolution, and shall be subject to mutatis mutandis application of Article 18, 

paragraphs 4 and paragraphs 5. 

3.The units responsible for implementation: The transaction shall be implemented by 

using department and finance department or administration department after approval. 

4.Appraisal report of memberships or intangible assets: 

A.Where the company acquires or disposes of memberships or intangible assets and 

the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital or NT$100 

million or more, the company shall engage a specialist to issue an appraisal report. 

B.Where the company acquires or disposes of memberships or intangible assets and 

the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital or NT$300 

million or more, except in transactions with a government institution, the company 

shall engage a certified public accountant prior to the date of occurrence of the event 

to render an opinion on the reasonableness of the transaction price; the CPA shall 

comply with the provisions of Statement of Auditing Standards No. 20 published by 

the ARDF. 
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C.The calculation of the transaction amounts referred to in this article shall be done in 

accordance with Article 14, paragraph 1, subparagraph H herein, and "within the 

preceding year" as used herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence 

of the current transaction. Items for which an appraisal report from a professional 

appraiser or a CPA's opinion has been obtained need not be counted toward the 

transaction amount. 

 

Article 11 

In principal, the company shall not acquire or dispose of claims of financial institutions. 

The company will submit to the board of directors for a resolution then adopt the 

appraising and operating procedures if the company starts to implement these 

transactions in the future. 

 

Article 12 

The procedures of acquisition or disposal of derivatives: 

1.Trading principles and strategies: 

A.The types of derivatives that may be traded: The company may engage in forward 

contracts, options contracts, swap contracts of interest rates or foreign exchange 

rates, compound contracts combining the above products and so on. 

B.Operating (hedging) strategy: The purpose of the company engages in derivatives 

trading is for hedging or for non-hedging (i.e. trading). The main strategy shall be to 

choose those derivatives that can avoid risk of revenue, expenses, assets or 

liabilities in foreign currency bringing from the company’s business so as to avoid 

operation risk. The company may engage in non-hedging transactions in an 

appropriate timing to expect to increase non-operating revenue or decrease 

non-operating expenses in case of changing circumstances. The transactions shall 

be defined as for hedging or financial measures to pursue investment revenue in 

advance for the sake of accounting. 

C.Segregation of duties: The derivatives trading shall be appraised and judged by 

persons who quite know the content of every derivative and determined by 

authorized director and chairman in coordination with the actual need for operation. 

D.Essentials of performance evaluation: The assigned persons shall evaluate and 

review operating performance periodically to prepare a written evaluation report then 

submit it to authorized director and chairman. 

E.Total amount of derivatives contracts that may be traded: Total amount of derivatives 

contracts shall not exceed 30 percent of the company’s total assets, and balance of 

each transaction shall not exceed 15 percent of the company’s paid-in capital. 

F.The maximum loss limit on total trading and for individual contracts: The maximum 

loss on total trading is 5 percent of total amount of derivatives contracts and that on 

single trading is 10 percent of total amount of derivatives contracts. 

2.Operating procedures: 

A.Finance department that is responsible for derivatives trading shall fill out and submit 

"Suggestion Form for Derivatives Trading" to chairman for approval, then report to 

the soonest meeting of the board of directors. 

B.The dealers shall deliver trading documents or contracts to accounting for recording. 

C.The accounting shall check in time if total trading amounts exceed total amount of 

derivatives contracts prescribed in these Regulations. 
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D.Each transaction shall be listed type, amount, exchange rate, counterparty, expiry 

date and so on by items then submit to director of finance department for review. 

E.Finance department shall establish a log book including the following details: 

a.The types and amounts of derivatives trading engaged in, and board of directors 

approval dates. 

b.Periodical evaluation report of derivatives trading positions held. 

c.Whether derivatives trading performance is consistent with established operational 

strategy and whether the risk undertaken is within the company's permitted scope 

of tolerance. 

d.Whether the risk management measures currently employed are appropriate and 

are faithfully conducted in accordance with "Regulations Governing the Acquisition 

and Disposal of Assets by Public Companies" and these Regulations. 

F.The dealers shall evaluate trading performance according to prices of every 

derivatives trading and exchange rate provided by banks in time, and submit to 

director of finance department for review; also, quarterly evaluate trading 

performance according to fair value to disclose in the financial statements. 

3.Accounting policy: The accounting policy of derivatives trading is in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and relevant laws to fairly present 

trading process and economical effect by complete accounting books, documents and 

records. 

4.Risk management measures: 

A.The scope of risk management: 

a. Credit risk: Credit risk shall be controlled by restricting the counterparties that the 

company deals with to those who have banking relationship with the company and 

can provide sufficient information. 

b. Market price risk: Due to the uncertain losses from market price fluctuation of 

derivatives in the future, the company shall continuously review positions held and 

report to authorized personnel if the losses exceed the stop loss point. 

c.Liquidity risk: Liquidity risk shall be controlled by restricting counterparties to those 

who have adequate facility, sufficient information, and sizable trading capacity and 

capability to enter into transactions in any markets around the world. 

d. Operating risk: Delegation systems and operating procedures set forth herein are 

employed to control operating risk. 

e. Legal risk: Any trading documents shall be reviewed by director of finance 

department then submitted to general manager and chairman for approval to 

control legal risk. 

f.Cash flow risk: Finance department shall strictly follow the delegation systems and 

pay attention to cash flows of the company to meet the cash settlement 

requirement. 

B.Personnel engaged in derivatives trading may not serve concurrently in other 

operations such as confirmation and settlement. 

C.Risk measurement, monitoring, and control personnel shall be assigned to a 

different department that the personnel in the preceding subparagraph and shall 

report to the board of directors or senior management personnel with no 

responsibility for trading or position decision-making. 

D.Derivatives trading positions held shall be evaluated at least once per week; 

however, positions for hedge trades required by business shall be evaluated at least 

twice per month. Evaluation reports shall be submitted to chairman authorized by the 

board of directors. 
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5.Internal audit system: 

A.The purpose of internal audit: Internal audit is to assist the director of each unit to 

understand the effectiveness of their subordinate, to check if all operations are in 

accordance with relevant laws and the company’s internal regulations, and to 

provide suggestions for improvements so as to enhance management performance. 

B.Duties of internal auditor: 

a.Operational audit on a regular basis. 

b.Examination for unusual changes and particular situations on an irregular basis. 

c.Evaluating internal management control procedures. 

d.Confirmation of acquiring proper accounting records. 

e.Understanding of the operation efficiency of each unit. 

f.Submitting relevant reports and suggestions. 

C.Monthly audit for derivatives trading: 

a.Management of opening new account and accounts in existence. 

b.Trading cycle. 

c.Management of cash deposit. 

d.Management of settlement. 

e.Management of computer operation and information. 

f.Operation of accounting. 

g.Operation of finance and cashier. 

D.Implementation of internal audit: 

a.Internal auditor shall periodically make a determination of the suitability of internal 

controls on derivatives and conduct a monthly audit of how faithfully derivatives 

trading by the trading department adheres to the procedures for engaging in 

derivatives trading, and prepare an audit report that is combined with annual audit 

plan. If any material violation is discovered, all supervisors shall be notified in 

writing. 

b.Filing a report on the implementation of audit mentioned in a. within two months 

from the end of each fiscal year. 

c.Filing a report on the status of corrections of any irregularities mentioned in a. 

within five months from the end of each fiscal year. 

d.The company may not need to file a report mentioned in b. and c. before listing on 

the TWSE or GTSM. 

6.Regular evaluation methods and the handling of irregular circumstances: 

A.The director of finance department shall pay continuous attention to monitoring and 

controlling derivatives trading risk, and periodically evaluate whether derivatives 

trading performance is consistent with established operational strategy and whether 

the risk undertaken is within the company's permitted scope of tolerance. 

B.The director of finance department shall periodically evaluate the risk management 

measures currently employed are appropriate and are faithfully conducted in 

accordance with "Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets by 

Public Companies" and these Regulations. 

C.When irregular circumstances are found in the course of supervising trading and 

profit-loss circumstances, the director of finance department shall adopt appropriate 

measures and make a report immediately to the board of directors; where a 

company has independent directors, an independent director shall be present at the 

meeting and express an opinion. 
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Article 13 

The procedures of conducting a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares: 

1.Appraising and operating procedures:  

A.The company that conducts a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares, 

may engage a CPA, attorney, or securities underwriter to discuss statutory schedule 

together and organize a project team to follow statutory procedures. Prior to 

convening the board of directors to resolve on the matter, the company shall engage 

a CPA, attorney, or securities underwriter to give an opinion on the reasonableness 

of the share exchange ratio, acquisition price, or distribution of cash or other property 

to shareholders, and submit it to the board of directors for deliberation and passage. 

B.The company participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares 

shall prepare a public report to shareholders detailing important contractual content 

and matters relevant to the merger, demerger, or acquisition prior to the 

shareholders meeting and include it along with the expert opinion referred to in 

subparagraph A when sending shareholders notification of the shareholders meeting 

for reference in deciding whether to approve the merger, demerger, or acquisition. 

Provided, where a provision of another act exempts a company from convening a 

shareholders meeting to approve the merger, demerger, or acquisition, this 

restriction shall not apply. Where the shareholders meeting of any one of the 

companies participating in a merger, demerger, or acquisition fails to convene or 

pass a resolution due to lack of a quorum, insufficient votes, or other legal restriction, 

or the proposal is rejected by the shareholders meeting, the companies participating 

in the merger, demerger or acquisition shall immediately publicly explain the reason, 

the follow-up measures, and the preliminary date of the next shareholders meeting. 

2.Other requirements: 

A.A company participating in a merger, demerger, or acquisition shall convene a board 

of directors meeting and shareholders meeting on the day of the transaction to 

resolve matters relevant to the merger, demerger, or acquisition, unless another act 

provides otherwise or the FSC is notified in advance of extraordinary circumstances 

and grants consent. A company participating in a transfer of shares shall call a board 

of directors meeting on the day of the transaction, unless another act provides 

otherwise or the FSC is notified in advance of extraordinary circumstances and 

grants consent. When participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of 

another company's shares, a company that is listed on an exchange or has its 

shares traded on an OTC market shall prepare a full written record of the following 

information and retain it for 5 years for reference: 

a.Basic identification data for personnel: Including the occupational titles, names, 

and national ID numbers (or passport numbers in the case of foreign nationals) of 

all persons involved in the planning or implementation of any merger, demerger, 

acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares prior to disclosure of the 

information. 

b.Dates of material events: Including the signing of any letter of intent or 

memorandum of understanding, the hiring of a financial or legal advisor, the 

execution of a contract, and the convening of a board of directors meeting. 
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c.Important documents and minutes: Including merger, demerger, acquisition, and 

share transfer plans, any letter of intent or memorandum of understanding, 

material contracts, and minutes of board of directors meetings. 

When participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another 

company's shares, a company that is listed on an exchange or has its shares traded 

on an OTC market shall, within 2 days commencing immediately from the date of 

passage of a resolution by the board of directors, report (in the prescribed format 

and via the Internet-based information system) the information set out in a. and b. of 

this subparagraph to the FSC for recordation. Where any of the companies 

participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another company's 

shares is neither listed on an exchange nor has its shares traded on an OTC market, 

the company(s) so listed or traded shall sign an agreement with such company, 

prepare and retain full record, and report the information to the FSC for recordation 

in accordance with preceding requirements. 

B.Every person participating in or privy to the plan for merger, demerger, acquisition, or 

transfer of shares shall issue a written undertaking of confidentiality and may not 

disclose the content of the plan prior to public disclosure of the information and may 

not trade, in their own name or under the name of another person, in any stock or 

other equity security of any company related to the plan for merger, demerger, 

acquisition, or transfer of shares. 

C.Prior to convening the board of directors to resolve on the matter, the companies 

participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares shall engage a 

CPA, attorney, or securities underwriter to give an opinion on the reasonableness of 

the share exchange ratio, acquisition price, or distribution of cash or other property to 

shareholders, and submit it to the board of directors for deliberation and passage. 

Moreover, they may not arbitrarily alter the share exchange ratio or acquisition price 

unless under the below-listed circumstances, and shall stipulate the circumstances 

permitting alteration in the contract for the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer 

of shares: 

a.Cash capital increase, issuance of convertible corporate bonds, or the issuance of 

bonus shares, issuance of corporate bonds with warrants, preferred shares with 

warrants, stock warrants, or other equity based securities. 

b.An action, such as a disposal of major assets that affects the company's financial 

operations. 

c.An event, such as a major disaster or major change in technology that affects 

shareholder equity or share price. 

d.An adjustment where any of the companies participating in the merger, demerger, 

acquisition, or transfer of shares from another company, buys back treasury stock. 

e.An increase or decrease in the number of entities or companies participating in the 

merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares. 

f.Other terms/conditions that the contract stipulates may be altered and that have 

been publicly disclosed. 

D.The contract for participation by a public company in a merger, demerger, acquisition, 

or of shares shall record the rights and obligations of the companies participating in 

the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares, and shall also record the 

following: 

a.Handling of breach of contract. 

b.Principles for the handling of equity-type securities previously issued or treasury 

stock previously bought back by any company that is extinguished in a merger or 

that is demerged. 
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c.The amount of treasury stock participating companies are permitted under law to 

buy back after the record date of calculation of the share exchange ratio, and the 

principles for handling thereof. 

d.The manner of handling changes in the number of participating entities or 

companies. 

e.Preliminary progress schedule for plan execution, and anticipated completion date. 

f.Scheduled date for convening the legally mandated shareholders meeting if the 

plan exceeds the deadline without completion, and relevant procedures. 

E.After public disclosure of the information, if any company participating in the merger, 

demerger, acquisition, or share transfer intends further to carry out a merger, 

demerger, acquisition, or share transfer with another company, all of the participating 

companies shall carry out anew the procedures or legal actions that had originally 

been completed toward the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer; except 

that where the number of participating companies is decreased and a participating 

company's shareholders meeting has adopted a resolution authorizing the board of 

directors to alter the limits of authority, such participating company may be exempted 

from calling another shareholders meeting to resolve on the matter anew. 

F.Where any of the companies participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or 

transfer of shares is not a public company, the public company(s) shall sign an 

agreement with the non-public company whereby the latter is required to abide by 

the provisions of subparagraph A, subparagraph B, and subparagraph E. 

 

Article 14 

The procedures of public disclosure of information: 

1.The following circumstances shall be publicly announced: 

A. Acquisition or disposal of real property from or to a related party, or acquisition or 

disposal of assets other than real property from or to a related party where the 

transaction amount reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital, 10 percent or 

more of the company's total assets, or NT$300 million or more; provided, this shall 

not apply to trading of government bonds or bonds under repurchase and resale 

agreements, or subscription or redemption of domestic money market funds. 

B. Merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares. 

C.Losses from derivatives trading reaching the limits on aggregate losses or losses on 

individual contracts set out in the procedures adopted by the company. 

D.Where an asset transaction other than any of those referred to in the preceding three 

subparagraphs, a disposal of receivables by a financial institution, or an investment 

in the mainland China area reaches 20 percent or more of paid-in capital or NT$300 

million; provided, this shall not apply to the following circumstances: 

a.Trading of government bonds. 

b.Securities trading by investment professionals on foreign or domestic securities 

exchanges or over-the-counter markets, or subscription of securities by a 

securities firm, either in the primary market or in accordance with relevant 

regulations. 

c. Trading of bonds under repurchase/resale agreements, or subscription or 

redemption of domestic money market fund. 

d.Where the type of asset acquired or disposed is equipment/machinery for business 

use, the trading counterparty is not a related party, and the transaction amount is 

less than NT$500 million. 
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e.Acquisition or disposal by the company in the construction business of real 

property for construction use, where the trading counterparty is not a related party, 

and the transaction amount is less than NT$500 million. 

f. Where land is acquired under an arrangement on engaging others to build on the 

company's own land, engaging others to build on rented land, joint construction 

and allocation of housing units, joint construction and allocation of ownership 

percentages, or joint construction and separate sale, and the amount the company 

expects to invest in the transaction is less than NT$500 million. 

E. The amount of transactions above shall be calculated as follows, and "within the 

preceding year" refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current 

transaction. Items duly announced in accordance with these Regulations need not 

be counted toward the transaction amount. 

a.The amount of any individual transaction. 

b.The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals of the same type 

of underlying asset with the same trading counterparty within the preceding year. 

c. The cumulative transaction amount of real property acquisitions and disposals 

(cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) within the same development 

project within the preceding year. 

d.The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals (cumulative 

acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the same security within the preceding 

year. 

2.The prescription of publicly announcing and reporting: Under any of the circumstances 

in paragraph 1, the company acquiring or disposing of assets shall publicly announce 

and report the relevant information in the appropriate format as prescribed by 

regulations on the information reporting website designated by the FSC within 2 days 

counting inclusively from the date of occurrence of the event. 

3.The procedures of publicly announcing and reporting: Public announcement and 

regulatory filing procedures: 

A.The company shall publicly announce and report the relevant information on the 

FSC's designated website. 

B.The company shall compile monthly reports on the status of derivatives trading 

engaged in up to the end of the preceding month by itself and any subsidiaries that 

are not domestic public companies and enter the information in the prescribed 

format into the information reporting website designated by the FSC by the 10th day 

of each month. 

C. When the company at the time of public announcement makes an error or omission 

in an item required by regulations to be publicly announced and so is required to 

correct it, all the items shall be again publicly announced and reported in their 

entirety. 

D.The company acquiring or disposing of assets shall keep all relevant contracts, 

meeting minutes, log books, appraisal reports and CPA, attorney, and securities 

underwriter opinions at the company headquarters, where they shall be retained for 

5 years except where another act provides otherwise. 

E.Where any of the following circumstances occurs with respect to a transaction that 

the company has already publicly announced and reported in accordance with the 

preceding paragraph, a public report of relevant information shall be made on the 

information reporting website designated by the FSC within 2 days counting 

inclusively from the date of occurrence of the event: 
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a.Change, termination, or rescission of a contract signed in regard to the original 

transaction. 

b.The merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares is not completed by the 

scheduled date set forth in the contract. 

c.Change to the originally publicly announced and reported information. 

4.Format of publicly announcement: In accordance with regulations of the FSC. 

 

Article 15 

Control procedures for the acquisition and disposal of assets by subsidiaries: 

1.The subsidiary shall follow these Regulations for the acquisition and disposal of 

assets. 

2.Information required to be publicly announced and reported in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 14 on acquisitions and disposals of assets by a subsidiary that is 

not itself a public company in Taiwan shall be reported by the company. 

3.The paid-in capital or total assets of the company shall be the standard for determining 

whether or not a subsidiary requiring a public announcement and regulatory filing in the 

event the type of transaction specified therein reaches 20 percent of paid-in capital or 

10 percent of the total assets. 

 

Article 16 

For the calculation of 10 percent of total assets under these Regulations, the total assets 

stated in the most recent parent company only financial report or individual financial 

report prepared under the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports 

by Securities Issuers shall be used. In the case of a company whose shares have no par 

value or a par value other than NT$10, for the calculation of transaction amounts of 20 

percent of paid-in capital under these Regulations, 10 percent of equity attributable to 

owners of the parent shall be substituted. 

 

Article 17 

The company shall follow personnel management regulations and employee manual to 

periodically assess and punish personnel violating these Regulations in accordance with 

the seriousness of the case. 

 

Article 18 

With respect to the company's acquisition or disposal of assets that is subject to the 

approval of the board of directors under these Regulations or other laws or regulations, if 

a director expresses dissent and it is contained in the minutes or a written statement, the 

company shall submit the director's dissenting opinion to each supervisor. 

Where the position of independent director has been created in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act, when these Regulations are submitted for discussion by the board 

of directors, the board of directors shall take into full consideration each independent 

director's opinions. If an independent director objects to or expresses reservations about 

any matter, it shall be recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. 

Where an audit committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act, when these Regulations are adopted or amended they shall be approved by more 

than half of all audit committee members and submitted to the board of directors for a 

resolution. 
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If approval of more than half of all audit committee members as required in the preceding 

paragraph is not obtained, the procedures may be implemented if approved by more 

than two-thirds of all directors, and the resolution of the audit committee shall be 

recorded in the minutes of the board of directors meeting. 

The terms "all audit committee members" in paragraph 3 and "all directors" in the 

preceding paragraph shall be counted as the actual number of persons currently holding 

those positions. 

 

Article 19 

Where an audit committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act, the provisions regarding supervisors set out in Articles 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 18 and 20, 

shall apply mutatis mutandis to the audit committee. 

Where an audit committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act, the provisions regarding independent directors set out in Article 9, paragraph 3, 

subparagraph E shall apply mutatis mutandis to the audit committee. 

 

Article 20 

In regard to all matters not provided for in these Regulations, relevant laws and 

regulations shall govern. After these Regulations have been approved by the board of 

directors, they shall be submitted to each supervisor, and then to a shareholders' 

meeting for approval; the same applies when the procedures are amended.  

These Regulations have been passed by the board of directors on May 8, 1998. 

The first amendment was approved on November 17, 1999. 

The second amendment was approved on March 25, 2003. 

The third amendment was approved on March 21, 2006. 

The fourth amendment was approved on December 21, 2006. 

The fifth amendment was approved on March 15, 2007. 

The sixth amendment was approved on June 6, 2012. 

The seventh amendment was approved on June 11, 2014. 
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APPENDIX 4 

 

Emerging Display Technologies Corp. 

Shareholdings of All Directors and Supervisors 
 

Record date: April 9, 2017 

Title Name 
Current Shareholding 

Shares Percentage 

Chairman Tseng, Jui-Ming  11,043,723 5.83% 

Director Hsieh, Hui-Tai  6,486,867 3.42% 

Director 
Ying Dar Investment Development Corp. 

Representative: Wang, Tai-Kuang  
5,346,672 2.82% 

Director 
Bae Haw Investment Development Corp. 

Representative: Hsieh, Wen-Hsiung  
3,447,716 1.82% 

Director Ti Fu Investment Corp. 56,406 0.03% 

Independent Director Li, Chi-Cheng  0 0.00% 

Independent Director Huang, Fu-Di  0 0.00% 

Total Directors’ shareholdings 26,381,384 13.92% 

Supervisor Lin, Yu-Fen  1,702,047 0.90% 

Supervisor Tseng, Shu-Ling  1,651,209 0.87% 

Supervisor Chu, Min  110,067 0.06% 

Total Supervisors’ shareholdings 3,463,323 1.83% 

Note: 

1. Total shares issued as of April 9, 2017: 189,407,603 common shares. 

2. In accordance with Article 26 of the Securities and Exchange Act, the total 

shareholdings of Directors and Supervisors may not be less than below shares: 

(1) Total register shares owned by all Directors should not less than 11,364,456 shares. 

(2) Total register shares owned by all Supervisors should not less than 1,136,445 

shares. 

3. Based on Article 2 of the Rules and Review Procedures for Directors and Supervisors 

Share Ownership Ratio at Public Companies, edt had elected two independent directors, 

the minimum shareholding for all directors and supervisors other than the independent 

directors shall be decreased by 20 percent. 

 


